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Scotch-Irish and German Settlers in Virginia and the Carolinas  

Introduction  
During the 1700s many Scotch-Irish and German immigrants arrived in America. They and their children 

settled parts of Pennsylvania, Virginia, and the Carolinas. Today, most of their descendants seldom think 

about their heritage. Most live in the present, are working on real-life problems, or planning their future. 

That attitude was shared by their ancestor immigrants 250 years ago. Nonetheless, I suspect most 

descendants have at least wondered what the word Scotch-Irish means. All my life, I have heard various 

facts, but never understood how they fit together. Some facts appeared contradictory. So, I investigated, 

and discovered a colorful story that far exceeded my expectations. 

My principal objectives were to: 

¶ Understand certain comments made by grandparents and other relatives over 40 years ago. 

¶ Understand the confusing adjective Scotch-Irish. 

¶ Understand the confusing cultural icons of bagpipes, kilts, Celtic whistles, etc. 

¶ Understand the history of Moravian, Lutheran, Mennonite, Amish, Dunkards, Presbyterian, 

Puritanism, Huguenot, Quaker, Methodist, Congregational, and Baptist denominations that have 

churches in the Carolinas. 

¶ Understand why and when surnames became common. 

¶ Understand ancestor Margaret Mooreôs recollections of the Siege of Londonderry in 1689. 

¶ Understand motivations of Scotch-Irish and German immigrants during the 1700s and terms of 

their Carolina land grants. 

¶ Understand relations between early Carolina immigrants and Native Americans. 

¶ Understand why Scotlandôs heroine Flora Macdonald came to live in North Carolina in 1774. 

¶ Understand Scotch-Irish legacy in Charlotte and Mecklenburg County, North Carolina. 

¶ Understand the controversial Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence. 

¶ Understand the decisive role Scotch-Irish and Germans settlers played during the American 

Revolution 1775ï1781. 

¶ Understand the sequence of events during 1780ï1781 when the American Revolution reached the 

Carolina Piedmont. It was a civil war between rebel and loyalist neighbors that directly impacted 

many family members. At least 22 were veterans. For some reason, their story is virtually 

forgotten. But because war was better documented than ordinary home and farm life, much is 

recoverable. While a high-school student and cadet at the Citadel, I prepared reports and gave 

presentations on battles at Mooreôs Creek, Charlestown siege, and Cowpens. Only recently, I 

learned details about relatives who participated or were affected by these battles. 

¶ Understand limitations of genealogy. Why do all family-tree branches end in obscurity? 

It is said that the ñScotch-Irish kept all the Ten Commandments and everything else upon which they could 

lay their hands.ò The best humor has an element of truth. 

I presume a contemporary American reader who, like myself, is only vaguely familiar with Scotlandôs 

history. I relate history to familiar movie films. Also, I show how one can estimate the number of his 

ancestors and descendants. Mentioned family relationships are those of the author. That allows a family-

member reader to quickly calculate his or her own relationship. 
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Special family history and events appear in paragraphs using this font color. Anderson and Plonk-McGuire 

data are distinguishable by other font colors. 

Anderson family members will be surprised to learn that a 6th great-grandfather from Germany was an 

indentured servant. A 5th great-granduncle was a North Carolina Continental Army regiment commander 

during the American Revolution. In the North, he served in General George Washingtonôs army. Later, in 

the South, he defended Charleston during the 1780 British siege. Although he was well known among his 

contemporaries, no one has written a comprehensive history of his military career. This document compiles 

details from many historical sources. Another 5th great-granduncle was a delegate to the 1776 Fifth 

Provincial Congress that established North Carolinaôs first constitution. He was also delegate to the 

1789 North Carolina convention that adopted the United States Constitution. He was one of 

8 commissioners who organized the University of North Carolina and selected its site. In 1792, he was 

elected United States Congressman. A 3rd cousin 2 generations removed, was the first woman to graduate 

from the University of North Carolina. 

Plonk family members will be surprised to learn that a 5th great-grandmother was abducted by Indians 

during the French and Indian War and held 3 years. A 5th great-grandfather was a signer of what became 

known as the 1775 Tryon County Resolves. A 4th great-grandfather was a patriot officer at the 1780 Battle 

of Kings Mountain. He was wounded. His location is known within about 100 feet. His name is on the 83-

foot obelisk monument. A 1st cousin 5 generations removed was elected North Carolina Governor in 1840. 

He had extraordinary accomplishments, and is arguably the stateôs most significant governor. A 1st cousin 

3 generations removed was killed by lightning while a Confederate soldier in 1865. The oldest Plonk 

generations spelled their name Plunk. This document spells each individualôs name as he or she did during 

his or her lifetime. 

McGuire family members will be surprised to learn that a 3rd great-granduncle participated in little-known 

but important battle at Musgrove Mill, South Carolina. Also many 2nd and 3rd cousins 5 generations 

removed were influential in early Mecklenburg County, and participated in many Revolutionary War 

battles. 

I wrote this document as a tool to understand the above listed objectives, and to collect and organize 

important or interesting facts. Chronological order is followed closely. Newly added information has made 

the document rather long. Consequently, I have attempted to make each section self-explanatory by 

redefining terms and re-identifying individuals. The reader should be able to read only those sections he or 

she regards as interesting. Of course, this document could be separated into multiple documents, but its 

present form seems best for inserting and organizing new information. 

Since only important and interesting facts are included, content is somewhat anecdotal. It is not 

comprehensive history. Nonetheless, I am serious that it accurately represents history. Legends are 

explicitly identified. Sources were carefully selected. Some sources are first-hand accounts of actual 

participants. Modern references reflect decades of research by professional historians. 

Although I have been careful, there may be errors. Please advise me wherever an interpretation can be 

improved. Ultimately, I hope this document encourages younger people to extend the information in their 

own way. 

Value of Subject 
The value of these studies was expressed by Reverend William Henry Foote, the first historian who 

specialized in this subject matter. In the introduction to his book, he wrote: 

The history of principles is the history of States. And the youth of Carolina might study 

both on one interesting page, were there a fair record of past events presented to their 

perusal. They might learn at home something better than the histories of Greece and 

Rome, or the Assyrian and Babylonian, or all the eastern and western empires of the 

world, have ever taught. They would find examples worthy of all praise, and actions 

deserving a generous emulation. They would be impressed most deeply with the 
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conviction that people and actions worthy of such examples must be the citizens and the 

acts of the happiest nation on earth. (Foote 1846, x). 

Timeline Format and Citations  
This document follows a strict timeline. That format describes the circumstance when a leader made an 

important decision or took decisive action. The reader can appreciate the drama of unfolding events and a 

leaderôs courage. 

History is best appreciated when expressed by actual participants. This document frequently quotes these 

participants. To assist further research, citations are embedded in the text and appear in the form (author 

year written, series:volume:page) or some appropriate variation. For example, a quote within a reference is 

cited as (person quoted year quoted in author year published, series:volume:page). This technique helps 

evaluate authenticity and, with careful text analysis, often uncovers precise time and place information. For 

these reasons, a citation is more informative than an indirect footnote. Overall, embedded citations 

efficiently guide the researcher to the best information available with a minimum of effort. A bibliography 

of all sources, articles, and books appears at the end. Place names and an individualôs military rank are 

specified contemporaneous with the event described. For example, Charlestown was the contemporaneous 

name of present-day Charleston. 

This timeline format with embedded citations creates a working document from which conjectured 

scenarios can be tested and into which new evidence can be inserted. 

The Word Scotch-Irish  
The word Scotch-Irish is confusing. It is an American word that probably would not be understood in 

Scotland or Ireland. It is both correct and misleading. It is correct when understood in the historical context 

of settlers first leaving Lowland Scotland for Ulster, in northern Ireland during the 1600s, and then younger 

generations emigrating to North America during the 1700s. In the 1800s, the hyphenated name Scotch-Irish 

did not mean an ethnic mix. It meant Scots from northern Ireland. It was used to distinguish from Irishmen. 

Scotch-Irish were mostly Presbyterian Protestants while Irishmen were mostly Roman Catholic. 

Many readers will be satisfied in understanding the above distinction. But the name Scotch-Irish is even 

more ironic if considered over the last 2000 years. That is because Scots first lived in Ireland, and migrated 

to what is now called Scotland. They were pagans with no written language, painted their bodies, and were 

regarded as barbarians by Romans and other civilized societies. Ironically, after 1000 years, the Scotsô 

name was applied to a Pict-Scot-Angle-Saxon-Norman-Viking-Irish ethnically mixed society with a 

political system modeled after England, yet fiercely independent. 

Today, cultural icons are often confused. The kilt is traditional Celtic clothing. It belongs to Highland 

Scots. The bagpipe is an ancient instrument. Romans spread its use. Americans are most familiar with the 

Scottish bagpipe. The modern Irish bagpipe has a bellows that is pressed using the arm and is played in a 

sitting position. Most Scotch-Irish American heritage started in Lowland Scotland where dress fashion was 

similar to England, and the fiddle (violin) was the principal folk instrument. 

This confusion over Scotch-Irish has some benefits. A Scotch-Irish American can pick and choose 

whatever he or she likes from Scottish and Irish heritage without contradiction. Also, ignorance spares the 

United States from strife similar to present-day Northern Ireland. Understanding the name Scotch-Irish 

requires investigating a long history. 

Some modern authors substitute the expression Scots-Irish for the traditional expression Scotch-Irish. This 

trend is especially popular in official documents and at museums. The whimsical justification is that Scotch 

is not an adjective; it is a type of whisky. Source documents from the 1800s and early 1900s use Scotch-

Irish. Since these source documents will always be referenced, the expression Scotch-Irish can never be 

eliminated. The grammatical advantage of Scots-Irish does not outweigh the historical continuity of 

Scotch-Irish. Authors are trying to tell the story of these people. There are already multiple names. It does 

not help to invent a new name whose only advantage is grammatical correctness. For this reason, lots of 
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authors continue to use Scotch Irish. Also, two expressions with the same meaning will unnecessarily 

confuse students. 

Both Anderson and Plonk families include Scotch-Irish, English, and German names. Anderson relations 

have German names Holt, and Ramseur. Plonk relations have Scotch-Irish or English names Espey, Oates, 

Means, Motley, and Simpson. 

400 "#ȟ 0ÈÁÒÁÏÈȭÓ $ÁÕÇÈÔÅÒ 3ÃÏÔta and a Limitation of Genealogy  
A superficial sentiment in genealogy is finding some notable ancestor, either royalty or in the extreme case, 

a son of Noah. Scots living about 400 BC had such a sentiment. They claimed to be descendants of 

Egyptian Pharaohôs daughter Scotta and Greek prince Gael. They took Scottaôs name, and migrated from 

the Mediterranean, via present-day Spain, to Ireland, carrying with them the Stone of Destiny. This legend 

probably made them feel important and part of a larger civilized world that they knew about but had never 

seen. It is mythology and not history. Nonetheless, it invites the curious question of its probability. The 

surprising fact is that every Scot of 400 BC was probably a descendant of every pharaohôs daughter who 

had children since 5000 BC. And so was everyone else alive in 400 BC. 

Anyone who has tried to maintain an accurate family tree realizes the futility of making it complete beyond 

a few generations. The author maintains a family tree database that includes only a few ancestors alive 

during the 1600s although there were actually thousands. Some ancient societies, like the Scots, took their 

genealogies seriously. The Bible records many ancient Hebrew genealogies: for example, 1 Chronicles 1ï4 

and Matthew 1. Saint Paul, a well-educated person, seemed to understand the fallacy without analysis. He 

wrote, ñNeither give heed to fables and endless genealogies.ò (KJV 1611, 1 Timothy 1:4) and ñAvoid 

foolish questions, and genealogies, and contentions, and strivings about the law; for they are unprofitable 

and vain.ò (KJV 1611, Titus 3:9). 

Note: Mathematics of Generations 

Mathematics helps explain this, and consequently, a limitation of genealogical inferences. Everyone has 

2 parents, 4 grandparents, 8 great-grandparents, and so on. This relationship is called an exponential 

function given by the formula n = 2g, where g is the number of generations and n is the number of great é 

grandparents. For example, each of us had 1024 great é grandparents 10 generations older. For a newborn 

today, that would be approximately the year 1750. A few ancestors might be counted more than once if 

distant cousins married and had children. In such a case, the number of distinct 10th-generation 

grandparents would be somewhat less than 1024. 

The number of descendants is even more dramatic since parents can have more than 2 children. The 

formula is n = cg, where c is the number of children in each generation. For example, Mary Louise 

McGuire, 1895ï1988, had 4 children, 11 grand children, and 19 great-grandchildren with more expected. 

The formula for this is approximately n = 3g. At this rate, she will have over 2 million living descendants in 

year 2250. That is the sum of the 11th, 12th, and 13th generations. It assumes an average generation length of 

25 years. The g = 0 generation completed in 1925. The g = 1 generation completed in 1950, and so on. 

Again, since distant cousins may have offspring, some descendants may be counted more than once. 

Nonetheless, it is clear that her genetic legacy will be dispersed rather quickly throughout the population. 

Interestingly, such dispersion does not necessarily lead to uniformity of all human characteristics. Due to 

what geneticists call genetic drift, group characteristics can persist. Such analysis has helped anthropologist 

time human immigration from Asia to North America. 

The above formulas can be put to work in other instructive ways. For example, the author knows about 

7 greatégreat-grandfathers and 11 greatégreat-granduncles who participated in the Revolutionary War. 

The author was surprised to find so many. But should it be surprising? What is the expected number? The 

Revolutionary War occurred during years 1775ï1783. Most soldiers were from one generation of 20ï

40 year olds. So, the 8-year Revolutionary War was fought by a generation and a half. Most of the known 

participants predate the author by 7 generations. So, the expected number of greatégreat-grandfathers and 

greatégreat-granduncles is ½ c (27 + ½ 26) = 80 c. Thus 80 greatégreat-grandfathers and, assuming an 

average of 5 children per family, 320 greatégreat-granduncles had a soldierôs eligible age. Of course, even 
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assuming all these men lived in the 13 colonies, not all were soldiers. The 1775 population of the 

13 colonies was 2,700,000. In any population, one would expect 1/6 to be males in age range 20ï40. So, 

approximately 450,000 men were eligible. Historical records show that approximately 250,000 actually 

served. Thus about ½ of all eligible males served. This high ratio is consistent with the militia system that, 

in principle, included all able-bodied men. Thus, the expected number of Revolutionary War participants is 

40 4th or 5th great-grandfathers and 160 4th or 5th great-granduncles. Although this result depends on several 

coarse approximations, it implies that the author and anyone else whose ancestry is limited to the United 

States for seven generations have many 4th and 5th great-grandfathers and great-granduncles who 

participated in the Revolutionary War.

 

Well, if mathematics assures that nearly everyone alive in 400 BC was a descendant of Pharaohôs daughter, 

why did no legitimate pedigree exist? Even though a significant minority of every generation die young or 

have no children, one would expect privileged kings and queens to have many descendants. Also, they were 

more likely to marry across nationalities to achieve political alliances. Surely most people have royalty in 

their background, but it is difficult to discover because genealogy records are not complete. Illiteracy may 

be a principal reason. After all, a person who could not write his own name was not likely to record much 

about his ancestors. Also, family fortune was rarely transferable beyond a few generations even for the 

richest, especially during times of political or economic instability. Young individuals selectively 

remember fortunate ancestors and dismiss others. Also, in modern times, record keeping was biased toward 

male ancestors for surname continuity. So, virtually every family-tree branch ends obscurity. It is almost 

hopeless for a Scotch-Irish American to find a royal ancestor since most Scotch-Irish immigrants were poor 

common folk. So poor that it probably never occurred to them that someday their descendants might want 

to know more about their lives. They preserved few records. 

Whatever the limitations of genealogies, culture remains remarkably persistent over many human 

generations. The Old Testament describes the slow cultural transition from cult-based religions to more 

sophisticated laws and religious beliefs. The Hebrew cultural fight against pagan idol worship took 

2000 years to prevail. Even good human behavior becomes persistent after integration into the culture. 

Today, there is much in American political and social culture that reflects the outlook of Scotch-Irish who 

emigrated from Ulster during the 1700s. 

Before 843, Picts  
From 80 AD until 1746, Scotland had the misfortune of being on the border of contending super-powers. 

Like present-day Balkans, its wars were frequent and bloody. Scotland has contented with Romans, 

Britons, Saxons, Vikings, Normans, always the English, and internal conflicts between Highlanders and 

Lowlanders. Throughout these conflicts, Scotland has always maintained a separate identity. 

Beginning in year 43, Romans occupied southern Britannia, the island of Great Britain. The religion of the 

indigenous Celts was animism, a primitive form of paganism. Celts attributed spirits to trees, streams, hills, 

and everything natural. Their rituals included human sacrifice. They had a complex oral tradition that 

required a young person many years to master. The most successful students achieved priest-class called 

druid or bard. From this tradition, we have inherited leprechauns, wizards, mistletoe, hidden treasure, and 

wishing wells (Mebane 1999, 13). 

Historian Tacitus recorded the Roman army under Suetonius Paulinus meeting the indigenous Britains and 

their druid priests at Anglesey in the year 60: 

On the beach stood the adverse array, a serried mass of arms and men, with women 

flitting between the ranks. In the style of Furies, in robes of deathly black and with 

disheveled hair, they brandished their torches; while a circle of Druids, lifting their hands 

to heaven and showering imprecations, struck the [Roman] troops with such an awe at the 

extraordinary spectacle that, as though their limbs were paralyzed, they exposed their 

bodies to wounds without an attempt at movement. Then, reassured by their general, and 

inciting each other never to flinch before a band of females and fanatics, they charged 
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behind the standards, cut down all who met them, and enveloped the enemy in his own 

flames. 

The next step was to install a garrison among the conquered population, and to demolish 

the groves consecrated to their savage cults: for they considered it a pious duty to slake 

the altars with captive blood and to consult their deities by means of human entrails. 

While he [Suetonius Paulinus] was thus occupied, the sudden revolt of the province was 

announced to Suetonius. 

The conflict between the Druid priests and the Romans was captured in Vincenzo Belliniôs 1831 opera 

Norma which included the beautiful aria Casta Diva. 

The sudden revolt was the Celtic uprising led by Boudicca, queen of the Iceni tribe, which forced Suetonius 

to return to Londinium, present-day London. 

The Roman word for present-day Scotland was Caledonia. It was controlled by the Picts, so called by 

Romans because of their painted bodies. Picts had a culture much like the Celtic tribe Scots who at that 

time lived in Hibernia, the island now called Ireland. The Romans almost conquered the Picts, and if they 

had, Scotland may have never evolved. Romans built two defensive walls and a system of forts to stop Pict 

raids and to tax commerce through gates. Hadrianôs Wall was completed in year 122. It was 15 to 20 feet 

high and 80 miles long, coast to coast. The Pict problem was serious enough in 208 to require the personal 

attention of Roman Emperor Severus who after 3 years of directing inconclusive fighting died of 

exhaustion at Eboracum [pronounced E-bore-rock-um], present-day York. 

Scotland and Ireland in Gaelic, Latin, and English 

Gaelic Latin  Modern English 

Alban Caledonia Scotland 

Eire Hibernia Ireland 

 

The Romans withdrew their military from Britannia in 407 when the weakening Western Empire began to 

implode. The vacuum induced Picts to raid fellow Celtic Britons whose wealth accumulated during Roman 

rule. Britons enlisted mercenary Angles and Saxons from mainland Europe to help them fight off the Picts. 

But the Anglo-Saxon mercenaries soon attacked their hosts driving them westward into Strathclyde and 

Wales. The Anglo-Saxons, who were pagan, established the new super power called Northumbria. This 

conflict produced the legend of Christian King Arthur and his Knights of the Roundtable, although the 

famous romantic stories were written 1000 years later by Thomas Malory in Le Morte dôArthur and during 

the 1900s by Alfred Tennyson in Idylls of the King. In fact, if Arthur actually existed, it is not certain that 

he would have been Christian. Anglo-Saxons were Christianized in 597 under King Ethelbert by Saint 

Augustineðnot the same saint who wrote Confessions. Like the Romans, the Anglo-Saxons also tried to 

conquer the Picts. But a blunder in 685 got their army trapped in a marsh called Nectansmere where Picts 

destroyed them. This victory allowed Celtic culture to continue. In continental Europe, it had been 

obliterated, beginning with Julius Caesarôs Gaul conquest in 52 BC. 

Ireland, 400 ɀ700 
During and after the Roman-era, the culture of Ireland was Celtic. Celtic clans formed a loose defensive 

alliance. An ancient settlement on a particular hill near present-day Dublin was a gathering place for 

political and religious ceremonies. It was called Tara. This name became part of Americana with Margaret 

Mitchellôs Gone With The Wind. 

In 430, Saint Patrick, a Roman missionary, christianized Ireland. By legend, he banished all serpents. 

About the same time, missionary Saint Ninian christianized the Picts. Although most of Europe devolved 

into political chaos, Christianity thrived in this remote region. Monks continued Christian traditions and 

scholarship. They established an abbey on Iona Island. They sent missionaries to Europe. 
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Scots, 843ɀ1066  
In 503, the Scottish Dalriada Kingdom extended its domain from the northeastern corner of Hibernia to 

western islands and coast of Caledonia which is geographically isolated from Pictland to the east. About 

560, missionary Saint Columba arrived to serve Scots and Picts. Eventually, Scots would absorb all of 

Caledonia and assign its modern name Scotland. 

In 843, Scottish king Kenneth MacAlpin claimed title to king of the Picts. This was successful even though 

Picts were far more populous, controlled more land, were more advanced in trade, and were English 

bilingual in the Lowlands. Modern historians believe Picts accepted peaceful assimilation since they 

viewed themselves as a Celtic extension, they shared Saint Columbaôs Christian tradition, and since they 

had the unusual rule of female-line succession of kings which Kenneth MacAlpin satisfied through his 

mother. (Cummins 1995) Because Picts were more numerous than Scots, it is reasonable to assume that 

most latter day Scots have Pict ancestors. 

McAlpine Creek is a principal creek in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina. Its name origin is lost in 

obscurity. The most likely origin was a farm family that moved away during the mid-1700s. But direct or 

indirectly, King Kenneth MacAlpin may be the original source. 

An intriguing legend from this era describes how Saint Andrewôs bones came to Scotland. Saint Andrew 

was Christôs second disciple and bother of Saint Peter. He was a missionary to the Black Sea area. He was 

crucified on a cross lying on its side forming an X. In 330, Roman Emperor Constantine moved relic bones 

of many saints, including Saint Andrew, to his new city Constantinople. A legend is that some of Saint 

Andrewôs bones were carried on a ship under the care of a man named Regulus. The ship wrecked off 

Scotlandôs coast. Regulus was able to carry the bones ashore. Saint Andrew became patron saint of 

Scotland, eclipsing Saint Columbaôs cultural traditions. In another legend, a Scottish commander saw a 

white X in a blue sky before a battle victory (A. B. Anderson 1999). That image is now the flag of 

Scotland, called the Saltire. Interestingly, Saint Andrewôs X-shaped cross is on the flag of Charlotte, North 

Carolina. 

 
The Saltire 

In 319, Roman Emperor Constantine made Christianity the state religion of the Roman Empire. In 321, he 

decreed Sunday as the Christian day of rest, overriding the traditional Jewish Saturday Sabbath. It was, 

translated from Latin: 

On the venerable Day of the Sun let the magistrates and people residing in cities rest, and 

let all workshops be closed. In the country, however, persons engaged in agriculture may 

freely and lawfully continue their pursuits; because it often happens that another day is 

not so suitable for grain-sowing or for vine-planting; lest by neglecting the proper 

moment for such operations the bounty of heaven should be lost. Given the 7th day of 

March, Crispus and Constantine being consuls each of them for the second time [A.D. 

321]. (Schaff 1902, 3:380) 

Early Christianity had many factions, each led by a bishop at a principal city: Alexandria, Antioch, Rome, 

Caesarea, and Nicaea. The Alexandria bishop Arius promulgated Arianism ideology that denied Christôs 

divinity. Approximately, half of all Christians held this belief. These factions caused a serious political 

problem for Constantine who wanted the new state religion to be a unifying force. In 325, to establish a 

written uniform Christian doctrine, he called all Christian bishops to a council at Nicaea. Beforehand, the 

only agreed doctrine was the Apostleôs Creed, which was a compilation of baptismal sayings, none of 

which were actually attributed to any of Christôs apostles. At Nicaea, Constantine intervened to force a 
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compromise with Arianism bishops by agreeing that Christ and God were different but were ñof the same 

substance.ò Thus, this phrase appears in the Nicene Creed that is often recited during Christian church 

services. Another curious expression in both Apostleôs Creed and Nicene Creed is, ñHe descended into 

Hell, and on the third day arose again.ò That refers to Christ going to Hell after his death and escorting 

meritorious sinners, including Adam and Eve, to heaven. Even more curious, is that it is not mentioned in 

the Bible, but in the Gospel of Nicodemus, a non-canonical gospel popular during years 300ï400. 

Incidentally, Arianism was named after Bishop Arius and should not be confused with completely 

unrelated Aryanism. 

795ɀ1263, Vikings  
Beginning in 793, pagan Vikings raided wealthy Christian monasteries and abbeys in Scotland and Ireland. 

Their longboat invention gave them access to inland areas along rivers. They settled in Orkney, Shetland, 

Outer Hebrides, and other islands, plus the northernmost parts of Scotland, present-day Caithness and 

Sutherland. They explored and settled along Russian rivers, Iceland, Greenland, and North America. 

Viking settlers in northwestern France established a separate identity as French-speaking Normans. How 

did Vikings achieve this without more sophisticated political or social structures or other advantages? It 

may have been terrorism on a grand scale. Their boastful and frenzied violence gave us the adjective 

berserk. Most remarkable was their victimsô ineffective response. That is evidence of the profound 

weakness of medieval monarchies. The feudal correction came two centuries later, but by then Vikings 

were assimilated throughout Europeôs population. 

Powerful Viking lords had threatening names: Harold Fair Hair, Kentil Flatnose, Godfrey Crovan, Sigurd 

the Mighty, Maelbrigte Tooth, Brian Boru, Thorfinn the Mighty, Somerled, and Haakon. 

1066ɀ1500, Norman Feudalism  
In 1066, Normans, under William the Conqueror, invaded England. He consolidated his power by building 

over 80 castles across England. On 1 August 1086, he summoned chief landholders to Salisbury where he 

demanded the oath: 

Statuimus, ut omnes liberi homines faedere et sacramento affirment, quad intra et extra 

universum regnum Angliae Wilhelmo regi domino suo fideles esse volunt; tenas et 

honores illius omni fidelitate ubique servare cum eo, et contra inimicos et alienigenas 

defendere. 

This formalized feudalism, a political system that could muster a large army. Normans weakened 

Englandôs traditional ties to Saxony and Norway, and strengthened ties with France. Scotland had to adopt 

feudalism to survive against feudal England. King David I started feudalism by dispossessing landholders 

and replacing them with imported Anglo-Saxon-Norman lords in exchange for absolute loyalty. 

Feudal governments throughout Europe made laws requiring individuals to take on surnames to better 

account for taxes and required military service. In 1053, Scotlandôs King Malcolm Canmore decreed that 

each landowner use his property name as a surname. Gradually, this practice applied to everyone. Some 

people chose a surname describing where he lived, like Brook. Others chose a surname that described his 

profession, like Taylor, Cooper (barrel maker), Sawyer, Turner (lathe worker), and Smith (hammerer). A 

popular choice was a variation of Son of é. Often the meaning was not meant literally, but implied Servant 

of Saint é. For example, Anderson could mean Servant of Saint Andrew. This development occurred after 

the Viking era. So, similar surnames like Scottish Anderson and Scandinavian Andersen developed 

independently, but concurrently. Until about 1500, an individual could select any surname. That 

contributed to wide use of Son of é, since it associated childôs legal liabilities with his father. Later, laws 

made a surname hereditary. These laws did not apply to monarchs. So even today, kings, queens, and the 

Pope do not have surnames. 

The Celtic form of Son of é was prefix Mac or Mc. The former was more common in Scotland and the 

latter in Ireland. But they meant the same thing. Less common prefixes were Ma as in Makemie and Me as 

in Mebane, equivalent of McBane (Mebane 1999, 1). 
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The genealogical implication is that a surname is almost impossible to trace before year 1500. 

Note: Child Naming Tradition s 

An old Scotch-Irish tradition is to name the first son after his paternal grandfather, the second son after the 

maternal grandfather, and the third son after the father. If an older cousin already had the grandfatherôs 

name, then the new son took the name of an uncle in order of age. Likewise, the first daughter was named 

after the maternal grandmother, the second daughter after the paternal grandmother, and the third daughter 

after the mother. If an older cousin already had the name of the grandmother, then the new daughter took 

the name of an aunt in order of age. The rule was not absolute, but a guideline that was often followed. 

What is neat about the rule is that sometimes an unknown grandparentôs name can be back calculated.

 

During the feudal period 1066ï1500, Scotland had a long succession of kings, regents, and heroes. 

Notables are: MacBeth, Malcolm Canmore, David I, William the Lion, Alexander III, William Wallace, 

Robert the Bruce, and Robert Stewart. King William the Lion drove out Viking lords. 

 
King Williamôs Red Lion Rampant 

In 1263, Alexander III  defeated Norse King Haakonôs fleet of 200 ships and 15,000 soldiers by stalling 

negotiations until the stormy season decimated Norse ships. Haakon withdrew and soon died, ending 

400 years of strong Norse influence (Mackie 1978, 44). A legend from this time made the thistle a national 

icon. When an attacking Norse soldier stepped on a thistle at night, his ouch cry alerted a Scottish sentry 

spoiling the surprise attack. 

 
Thistle 

from clip art 

But in 1296, Alexander III stumbled over a cliff and died. During disputes over succession, English King 

Edward I, nicknamed Longshanks, saw an opportunity to attack Scotland. In 1296, he successfully defeated 

Scotland. Among his trophies was the Stone of Destiny. But resistance continued, led by William Wallace 

and Robert the Bruce. They invented creative military tactics against the English Army. To defend against 

English armored knights, Scottish infantry massed and presented a picket of 12-foot long pikes. All castles 

in the Borders region were destroyed to deny garrisons. These tactics led to Scottish success at the battle of 

Bannockburn on 24 June 1314. Events during this time were portrayed in the 1995 movie Braveheart. In 

the 6 April 1320 Declaration of Arbroath addressed to the Pope, the Scots warned: 
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As long as but a hundred of us remain alive, never will we on any conditions be brought 

under English rule. It is in truth not for glory, nor riches, nor honors that we are fighting, 

but for freedomðfor that alone, which no honest man gives up but with life itself. 

This document partly inspired the United Statesô Declaration of Independence. Gradually, Lowland 

nobility became English-speaking Anglo-Saxon-Norman-Scot while Highland leaders remained Gaelic-

speaking Celtic clan chiefs. The Stone of Destiny was not returned to Scotland until 1996. Since 1603, 

every United Kingdom monarch has sat over the Stone of Destiny during coronation. 

In Ireland, feudal developments paralleled that of Scotland. In 1169ï1170, Richard de Clare, a 

Norman/Welsh earl raised an army to invade Ireland. He quickly captured Wexford, Waterford, and 

Dublin. In 1171, he married Aoife MacMurrough, daughter of the Celtic king of Leinster. He later became 

known as Strongbow. As in Scotland, the Normans built castles, but never established full authority 

throughout Ireland. Beginning about 1259, both Celtic and Norman lords strengthened their forces with 

Scottish mercenaries, mostly of Viking descent, known as gallowglass. 

 
Marriage of Strongbow to Aoife 

Romanticized representation. Painted by Daniel Maclise, 1854. 

Throughout Europe, the general political trend was ever increasing absolute kings. After kings gained 

authority to appoint bishops, they could commingle state and church revenues. They could operate 

unchecked by a parliament. The Popeôs corresponding loss of revenue led to corrupt polices like selling 

indulgences. Church corruption led to the Reformation. 

Much more could be written about Scotlandôs feudal kings. However, to understand Scotch-Irish 

immigration in the 1700s, the important fact was that Scotland remained an independent country with a 

Lowland population much like the people in England. 

1517ɀ1648, Reformation  
Roman Catholic Church reform was first advocated in the 1370s by Oxford professor John Wycliffe whose 

followers were called Lollards. Wycliffe believed: 

¶ The Church should not own property 

¶ An individual can relate to God without the Church 

¶ The number and importance of sacraments should be reduced from seven to two. 

In the 1450s, professor-priest Jan Hus [pronounced Hoose] linked these ideas with secular interests of 

Bohemian princes. On 31 October 1517, German priest Martin Luther posted his famous 95 theses, or 

debating points, on a church door in Wittenberg. Many theses questioned the churchôs absurd justification 

of selling indulgences. In addition to Wycliffeôs reforms, Luther believed: 
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¶ Doctrine of justification by faith that did not necessarily require good works 

¶ Eucharist consubstantiation instead of Catholic transubstantiation. 

Like Hus, he believed that the state had authority over the church. He encouraged this by writing a public 

letter to the Christian German nobility. Opportunist princes immediately realized they could stop flow of 

funds to Rome and confiscate Church property. In 1520, alarmed Pope Leo X sent Luther a bull of 

excommunication that Luther promptly burned. In April 1521, Luther was summoned before the council of 

the Holy Roman Empire, called the Diet of Worms. At that decisive meeting, Luther was protected by 

political nobles. Within 10 years a major political realignment occurred. Northern and western Germany 

became independent of Rome and was called Palatinate [pronounced pa-latin-ate]. The word Protestant 

was applied first to a group of Palatinate princes making a legal complaint. Luther translated the Bible into 

German and authored hymn A Mighty Fortress Is Our God, based on Psalm 46. In 1524, Ulrich Zwingli 

started the Reformed Church in Zurich. His beliefs were similar to Lutherôs except he believed the 

Eucharist was a symbolic ritual, rejecting both consubstantiation and transubstantiation. In 1530, John 

Calvin in Geneva published a new austere theology. 

Lord God, eternal and almighty Father: We acknowledge before your holy majesty that 

we are poor sinners, conceived and born in guilt and in corruption, prone to do evil, 

unable of our own power to do good. Because of our sin, we endlessly violate your holy 

commandments. But, O Lord, with heartfelt sorrow we repent and turn away from all our 

offenses. We condemn ourselves and our evil ways, with true sorrow asking that your 

grace will relieve our distress. Have compassion on us, most gracious God, Father of 

mercies, for the sake of your son Jesus Christ our Lord. And in removing our guilt, also 

grant us daily increase of the grace of your Holy Spirit, and produce in us the fruits of 

holiness and of righteousness pleasing in your sight: Through Jesus Christ our Lord. 

Amen. (Calvin 1543) 

A leading principle was Godôs omnipotence implies God knows the future, and thus the predestined 

salvation of everyone. Predestination believers called others Armenian, a name that implied an alien 

Christian sect. Unlike Luther, Calvin believed in theocracy, the church had authority over the state. 

Beginning in 1559, John Knox attempted to reform Scotlandôs state-supported Church called Kirk, a Norse 

word for church. That church owned half Scotlandôs wealth. Knox was influenced by John Calvinôs 

philosophy. The backlash of the established church was unbelievably brutal. Some of Knoxôs associates 

were burned at the stake on church grounds in the presence of notorious Cardinal Beaton. In reaction, 

Protestants ransacked churches. In an act of desecration, the ancient bones of Saint Andrew were lost. 

Religious emotionalism was extreme on both sides. 
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John Knox 

Engraving from Icons by T. Beza, 1580 

In 1560, the English-language Geneva Bible was published. An unintended consequence was that, for the 

first time, literate people could understand authentic Christian teachings instead of relying on priests. John 

Knox, in the 1560 Book of Discipline, made literacy and compulsory education principal objectives. 

The simple outline of religious beliefs above is inadequate for most purposes. For example, 

consubstantiation is not defined. This document attempts only to place development of denominations into 

a history timeline. Each denomination is inserted at its approximate founding date along with its distinctive 

beliefs and characteristics. Such reduction risks triviality. No doubt, the reader knows that religion is a 

complicated subject, best described in books with extensive commentary. 

The church formed by Jan Hus in the 1400s called itself Unity of the Brethren. It began as a reform oriented 

church in Moravia, a region now within the Czech Republic. Hus was burned at the stake for heresy. 

Immediately after the Thirty Yearsô War 1618ï1648, church members were forced from their homes. When 

some members settled in Germany, they became known as Moravians. Somewhat confusingly, then and 

now, a Moravian church member can be from anywhere. 

In the 1500s, several Anabaptists movements began. They believed a person must be baptized only after he 

or she was old enough to understand its meaning. They rejected Lutherôs justification by faith. They 

believed in complete separation between church and state. These included Mennonites who were named for 

leader Menno Simons. Some Mennonites from the Switzerland mountains followed leader Jacob Amman to 

become Amish. They meet in homes rather than churches. Other Anabaptists were quite austere. They 

removed all religious art, sang hymns without accompanying music, and did not celebrate Christmas since 

the Bible does not explicitly justify it. Present-day Baptist roots are Anabaptist. However, there is wide 

diversity among Baptists. Their theology is still in ferment as they debate Calvinist principles like 

predestination. 

Robert C. Carpenter has researched records in Steffisburg, Canton of Bern, Switzerland and records in 

Alsace, France. The Blancks (Plunks) and Zimmermans (Carpenters) were from the village of Steffisburg. 

Starting around 1693 some of these families migrated to Alsace. The Zimmermans held strong Anabaptist 

beliefs and some of them became followers of Jacob Amman, the founder of the Amish sect, in Alsace. 

Carpenter found references to Blancks in Alsace at the same time Zimmermans were there. They 

apparently were also Anabaptist because very few of them had children baptized in the Reformed, 

Lutheran, or Catholic churches in Alsace. 
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Carpenter thinks the Zimmermans and Blancks were related in Switzerland. He has traced a Hans 

Zimmerman and wife Madle Blanck in Steffisburg. Most of their children became Mennonite/Amish, 

migrated to Alsace, and then to America. A familial relationship in Europe would help explain why they 

remained close in Pennsylvania and in North Carolina. The Zimmermans, Blancks, Kauffmans, Yoders, 

Zooks all came from Steffisburg. Carpenter has found Blancks in Alsace. They do not appear in the parish 

records of Alsace which suggests that they were also Mennonite. The Zimmermans, Blancks, Yoders, 

Eakers, Mauneys, and Whisnants were in Alsace. So many of these families traveled in the same areas and 

probably knew each other.  

Carpenter believes that Dr. Peter and Jacob Plunk, father of Jacob and Peter, were not born and baptized in 

Steffisburg. He has not found baptisms that match them. That would probably mean that they were baptized 

in Alsace. Carpenter has read for hours in the parish records of Alsace and found no Blancks. (Carpenter 

2006ï2018) It was the son Jacob who migrated to North Carolina, and for that reason is usually referred to 

as Jacob I. He died about 1790 and is believed to be buried in an unmarked grave in the Plonk Family 

Cemetery in Lincoln County, North Carolina. 

Calvinism induced several denominations. In England, Puritanism adopted the doctrine of Company of 

Saints. In France, followers of Swiss Besancon Hugues, formed the Huguenot Church. In Saint 

Bartholomewôs Day Massacre, 24 August 1572, Catholics massacred over 10,000 Huguenots. Civil war 

continued until King Henry IV issued the 1598 Edict of Nantes that tolerated Protestantism in France. 

Note: Julian and Gregorian Calendars 

The present-day calendar is basically the same calendar standardized in 46 BC by Julius Caesar. Originally, 

years were dated from Romeôs mythical founding. That changed in 532, when Dionysius, a monk in Rome, 

started dating years since Christôs believed Nativity, indicated by anno Domini, meaning ñin the year of our 

Lord.ò Present-day scholars believe the Nativity actually occurred sometime between 7 and 4 BC. In 1582, 

Pope Gregory XIII  instituted a more precise calendar. It removed leap-year day from each century year not 

divisible by 400. To correct the accumulated 10-day error, Thursday 4 October 1582 was followed 

immediately by Friday 15 October 1582. Protestant England refused to adopt the new calendar because it 

was labeled an invention of the Pope. On the other hand, Scotland adopted the new calendar in 1600 to be 

consistent with its trading partners, especially France. For the next 152 years, calendars of Scotland and 

England with its colonies differed by 10 days prior to 1 March 1700 and 11 days prior to 14 September 

1752. In a family tree database, birthdays and death dates in English colonies prior to 14 September 1752 

are obsolete Julian calendar dates. So, for example, on the day George Washington was born, the calendar 

read 11 February. Later, that day was converted to 22 February, the official commemoration date. In 

addition, in 1752, New Yearôs Day was moved from 25 March to 1 January. That is why days between 

1 January and 25 March in prior years are written with hyphenated years. For example, today, when we 

want to write George Washingtonôs Julian calendar birthday, it is best written 11 February 1731ï1732. 

Despite the complicated adjustments to the Gregorian calendar, it is noteworthy that todayôs calendar 

differs by only one day per century from the Julian calendar made standard in 46 BC. Moreover, our 

alphabet, English language, Christian religion, legal and political system, civil service, military 

organization, public architecture, and marriage customs are modeled on Roman precedence.

 

Note: Origin of Weekday Names 

Beginning in pre-history antiquity, the full-moon cycle was the obvious time period longer than a day. This 

cycle divided into four equal parts became the seven-day week. Naturally, each week was associated with a 

moon phase: new, first-quarter, full, or last-quarter. Interestingly, in Western cultures, the weekday phase 

has not shifted for at least 3000 years, approximately 150,000 cycles. Weekday names have an 

astronomical origin: sun, moon, and five known planets. Present-day English names derive from German 

names. 
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Roman Name Meaning Roman-German God German Name English Name 

Dies Solis Day of Sun Apollo Sunnandaeg Sunday 

Dies Lunae Day of Moon Luna - Mona Monandaeg Monday 

Dies Martis Day of Mars Mars - Tiu Tiwesdaeg Tuesday 

Dies Mercuri Day of Mercury Mercury - Woden Wodnesdaeg Wednesday 

Dies Iovis Day of Jupiter Jupiter - Thur Thursdaeg Thursday 

Dies Veneris Day of Venus Venus - Frigga Frigedaeg Friday 

Dies Saturni Day of Saturn Saturn Saeterdaeg Saturday 

 

Note: Christmas and Easter Holidays 

Many present-day Christmas traditions have pagan origins. The 25 December date is from the Roman 

festivals of Saturnalia and Sol Invictus, meaning Invincible Sun. The Old Testament admonished against 

the pagan practice of decorating tree (KJV 1611, Jeremiah 10:1ï4). But the custom continued especially 

among Germans. During the Reformation, all Christian celebrations were controversial. In June 1647, 

Puritans gained control of Parliament. They passed legislation: 

For as much as the feast of the nativity of Christ, Easter, and other festivals, commonly 

called holy days, have been here-to-fore superstitiously used and observed; be it ordained 

that the said feasts, and all other festivals, commonly called holy days, be no longer 

observed as festivals. 

This law was reversed after the 1660 restoration, but observance was minimal, especially among 

Presbyterians, until the 1800s. After Queen Victoria erected a Christmas tree for her German-born husband 

Albert, the English public adopted the same custom. In 1843, Charles Dickensô short book A Christmas 

Carol was extremely popular. It transformed Christmas into a childrenôs day. Today, Christmas is a time to 

strengthen family bonds. Otherwise, cultural customs are sometimes confused. Some Christians defend 

pagan symbols in public places against secularists who want to call Christmas and Easter ñholidays,ò which 

means ñholy days.ò

 

Beginning 1610, Ulster Plantation  
A long-term English goal was to assimilate unruly Scottish Highlanders and Irishmen. During the 1570s, 

Queen Elizabeth I injected English colonists into occupied Dublin and surroundings, known as the Pale. 

The expression ñbeyond the Paleò indicated uncivilized territory. Queen Elizabeth I was the first to use the 

word Scotch-Irish. It appeared in a formal document referring to Scottish settlers in and around Dublin. The 

present-day word Scotch-Irish, although similar in meaning, originated in America during the 1800s. 
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Queen Elizabeth I 

Attributed to Isaac Oliver. 

Queen Elizabeth died in 1603, leaving no heirs. Scotlandôs King James VI became King James I of 

England. His hereditary claim was that his 2nd great-grandfather had been former English King Henry VII. 

He got the crown by creating political alliances during Elizabethôs reign. Stakes of these alliances were so 

high that he acquiesced to his motherôs, Mary Queen of Scots, execution in 1587. For the first time, the 

entire island of Great Britain had one monarch, the United Kingdom of Great Britain. A new flag was 

designed and called Union Jack after Jamesôs official Latin name Jacobus Rex. It contains the white X-

shaped Cross of Saint Andrew superimposed on the red cross of Saint George that symbolized England. 

 
Union Flag or Union Jack, 1606ï1801 

In 1604, King, James commissioned scholars to translate the Bible into English. It was published in 1611 as 

King James Version. James was also a proponent of colonization. Jamestown Colony in Virginia began in 

1607. 
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King James I 

Attributed to John de Critz the Elder. 

In 1632 in London, the Bakerôs edition of the King James Bible mistakenly misprinted the Seventh 

Commandment, ñThou shalt commit adultery,ò leaving out the important ñnot.ò It became known as the 

ñWicked Bible.ò No doubt some people were amused, but official reaction was severe. Parliament ordered 

all copies destroyed, fined the printer 3000 pounds, and forbade all further unauthorized printings of the 

Bible. 

In 1610, Irish Earls of Tyrconnell and Tyrone abandoned Ulster under pressure. King James set up Ulster 

Plantation and invited residents of Scotland and England to settle providing they cultivate land and provide 

as many jobs as possible exclusively to Scots or Englishmen. Organizational details appear in (Foote 1846, 

84ï90). Since King James was originally Scotlandôs king, Scots probably got better allotments than they 

would have otherwise. Most Scot colonists were from western Lowlands and did not have far to go since 

Ulster and Scotland are only 13 miles apart at their closest points, the so-called Giantôs Causeway. Scots 

succeeded in making Ulster farmland productive. Their descendants are still there today. Obviously, native 

Irishmen resented this. 

Hugh Espy, born 1647, and his wife Mary Stewart, born 1649, Plonk-related 8th great-grandparents, were 

born in Edinburgh, Scotland, but settled and died in County Antrim, Ulster. Joseph Means, a Plonk-related 

7th great-grandfather was born in Perthshire, Scotland, about 1653 and died in Belfast, County Antrim, 

Ulster. 

In the 1600s, rent for farmland was called mail, and was often paid in cattle and dairy products. Blackmail 

was rent, actually extortion, paid to keep cattle from being stolen. 

Quit rent was a holdover from medieval times. Under the feudal system, a tenant held the land from his 

lord and usually had sub-tenants. In return, he was required to lend aid to the lord in times of emergency by 

coming to fight on his behalf and bringing an army of his subtenants. This custom was superseded by an 

annual money payment, the quit rent, which served in place of military service. In the Royal Colony of 

North Carolina the settlers owned the land ñin fee simpleò and could sell or dispose of the land any way 

they wanted. However, they paid annual quit rents to the original grantee who in turn passed these 

payments up to the King (Mitchell April 1993). 

1638ɀ1700, Presbyterian Church  
The word Presbyterian implies church governance not by bishops but by church leaders in a hierarchical 

structure of Session, Presbytery, Synod, and General Assembly. Leaders are both lay and clergy. To 

provide trained ministers, Presbyterians created many independent colleges. 
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In the minds of most Europeans during 1600s, religious toleration was not a virtue. Instead, they believed 

that each nation must share a common religion and celebrate religious events simultaneously. King 

Charles I wanted to enforce the Anglican Church liturgy throughout England and Scotland. On Sunday, 

23 July 1637, he required that the Book of Common Prayer be read during the Sunday service at Saint 

Gilesô Cathedral in Edinburgh, Scotland. Scottish Presbyterians considered such practice as ñPoperyò and 

disrupted the service. A local woman Jenny Geddes famously threw a stool at the reader while yelling: 

ñDeôil gie you colic, the wame oô ye, fause thief; daur ye say Mass in my lug.ò meaning ñDevil cause you 

colic in your stomach, false thief: dare you say the Mass in my ear.ò On 28 February 1638, Covenanters 

tried to reverse state, or established, religion by making Presbyterianism the only religion in England, 

Scotland, and Ireland. Its beliefs and policies were codified by the Westminster Assembly in its Confession 

of Faith in 1643. The ñtrespassesò version of the Presbyterian Lordôs Prayer is an incidental consequence of 

the Westminster Assembly. In the King James Bible, Matthew 6:9ï13 uses ñdebtsò and Luke 11:2ï4 uses 

ñsins.ò 

During the remainder of the 1640s, other factions took advantage of royal weakness. A three-sided civil 

war resulted. First, the Scotland Army invaded northern England. To raise funds, Charles I was forced to 

reconvene what became known as Long Parliament. It attempted to destroy Charles Iôs government. The 

English Army split between royalist supporters known as Cavaliers and Parliament supporters known as 

Roundheads. In 1641, Irish Catholic majority revolted against all Protestants overlords. In 1648, the Army 

under Oliver Cromwell took virtual custody of King Charles and banished him to Isle of Man. Some 

Covenanters attempted to deal with the weakened king to realize their goal of universal Presbyterianism. 

But other armed Covenanters, 6000 strong, marched on Edinburgh in what became known as 

Whiggamoreôs Raid. That unusual word was a loose variation of ñwhig a mareò meaning prod a horse. The 

participants, and later all Presbyterian fighters, became known by the nickname Whig. In 1649, they made 

an alliance with Cromwell that decisively ended the monarchy and put Cromwell in power. On 30 January 

1649, Charles I was beheaded. But soon afterwards, the Covenanters felt double crossed, because 

Cromwell failed to make Presbyterianism the established church. In 1649ï1650, Cromwellôs Army brutally 

repressed Irish Catholics. In 1653, Cromwell was named Lord Protector. Presbyterians were generally 

happy when Charles II restored the monarchy on 29 May 1660. But soon thereafter, they felt double 

crossed when instead of advancing Presbyterianism as he had promised in 1649, he contemptuously said 

ñPresbytery was not a religion for gentlemen,ò and began to reestablish bishops and formal liturgy, such as 

kneeling. Such issues mattered deeply to Presbyterians who again decided to fight. Many Presbyterians lost 

their jobs, property, and lives for their beliefs. Fighting lasted for decades. The 1680s were the worst 

period. In the end, they failed to establish universal Presbyterianism, but did maintain a separate existence. 

Fighting radicalized leaders, resulting in dogmatic and austere policies. For example, in 1696 a student was 

hanged for using profanity. His sadly ironic name was Thomas Aikenhead (Mackie 1978, 253). The degree 

of religious passions and violence during the 1600s had searing impacts on individuals. It shaped the 

Presbyterian image as dour, independent, self-reliant, defensive, anti-government, and militant. 

Reverend James Alexander, a McGuire-related 8th great-grandfather, was ordained on 12 December 1677 in 

Raphoe, Donegal, Ulster, Ireland. He was fined £20 and imprisoned 8 months for publicly holding ña day 

of prayer and fasting,ò violating the established church laws (Foote 1846, 117). James Alexander was 

mentioned in minutes of ñThe General Synod of Ulster.ò 

A few generations later, when opportunity opened in America, Ulster Scots were already predisposed to 

settle elsewhere. During 1683ï1708, Francis Makemie founded Americaôs first Presbyterian churches on 

Virginia-Maryland Eastern Shore. 
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Francis Makemie 

Makemie Presbyterian Church, Accomac, Virginia (W. M. Plonk 1994ï2008) 

Copy of statue by Alexander Stirling Calder, 1897 

Presbyterian Historical Society, Philadelphia, PA 

From 1974ï1990s, William McGuire Plonk was minister at the Makemie founded church in Onancock, 

Virginia. 

1688ɀ1690, Siege of Ulster  
In France, the 1598 Edict of Nantes had been divisive. After 1650, systematic persecutions of Huguenots 

increased. Many left France for Geneva, Amsterdam, London, Brandenburg-Prussia, and Ulster. In Ulster, 

Huguenots integrated well with Presbyterian Scots. Beginning 1669, Huguenots immigrated to 

Charlestown, Carolina, later South Carolina. More settled west of present-day Richmond, Virginia. In 

October 1685, French King Louis XIV  revoked the Edict of Nantes, forcing all remaining Huguenots to 

convert or depart. 

Surname Forney has a Huguenot origin. Faucett Family tradition is that their ancestors refused to convert to 

Roman Catholicism and with other French Huguenots migrated to Ulster, Ireland. 

Surname Brevard has a Huguenot origin. 

In 1685, new King James II  was Roman Catholic. Soon he began replacing all Protestant office holders 

with Catholics. Also, his newborn son was expected to become another Catholic monarch. King James was 

so unpopular that Parliament invited his Protestant daughter Mary and her husband William of Orange to 

create an army in Holland and invaded England. King James tried to escape, was caught, and then freed to 

ñescapeò again. This so-called Bloodless Revolution marked the end of English absolute monarchs and the 

beginning of Parliament preeminence. The winning political party became known as Whigs, although its 

support was more diverse than the original Covenanters. 

In 1688ï1690, James, with French and Irish Catholic soldiers, attempted to regain the crown by attacking 

Ulster from southern Ireland where the population was mostly Catholic. Londonderry was surrounded. 

Although city officials advised surrender, residents refused. For fifteen weeks, between March and July 

1689, supplies were cut off. Many people starved. Finally, a relief ship broke the harbor blockade. King 

William ultimately defeated James at River Boyne Battle on 1 July 1690. 

Margaret Moore, an Anderson-related 7th great-grandmother, spoke of sickness and suffering the people 

endured during the siege when she lived in Londonderry. Her husband was a British soldier. (Turner 1971, 

62) 
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During the War of the League of Augsburg, 1688ï1697, called King Williamôs War in America, the army of 

French King Louis XIV  devastated the Rhineland and Palatinate region of Germany. Thousands of German 

farms were destroyed and farmers forced off their land. Afterwards, Louis attempted to unite the 

monarchies of Spain with France, and thus create a powerful state that would dominate Europe. Other 

nations allied against this threat and started the War of Spanish Succession, 1701ï1714, called Queen 

Anneôs War in America. As before, German farmers suffered during this unsettled time. No doubt, many 

Germans sought a better life in America. 

1707, Scotland Parliament joined England Parliament  
There were always some Lowland Scotland leaders who believed closer ties to England were in Scotlandôs 

long-term interest. Economic conditions in the early 1700s caused these views to prevail. Integration freed 

Scotland from Englandôs trade-restrictive Navigation Acts. Also, England got a more stable northern 

neighbor less influenced by France. In 1707, Scotlandôs Parliament met to accept terms of union with 

Englandôs Parliament, and then permanently disbanded. Thereafter, Scotland sent its members of 

parliament to London. Scotland retained an independent church and legal system. Scotland would have 

preferred a federal form of government. This was achieved in July 1999. Today, Scotland Parliamentôs 

powers are limited to regional issues. London continues control of foreign policy, defense, and central 

bank. 

1690ɀ1801, Protestant Ascendancy in Ireland  
The 1690 defeat of James II led to Protestant Ascendancy in Ireland with its systematic subjugation of the 

majority Catholic population. Unlike today, Ireland was not partitioned. It had its own parliament until 

1 January 1801, the date that corresponds to Scotlandôs 1707 event. In the 1700s, various penal laws forbid 

Catholics from holding public office, owning land or firearms, and educating their children even outside 

Ireland. Although Ulster Presbyterians were not persecuted as severely, they were forced to pay tithes to 

the established Anglican Church. Between 1704 and 1719, the Irish Parliament Test Act Against Popery 

excluded all dissenters, including Presbyterians, from public office and military careers. It also made non-

Anglican marriages technically illegal which threatened childrenôs future. Also, the previous 150 years 

taught Presbyterians that their liberty and property could disappear anytime government changed. Also 

English protectionist laws forbade importation of Irish wool and other products. This was the political, 

religious, and economic environment from which many Scotch-Irish emigrated to North America. But 

compared to other contemporary immigrants, Scotch-Irish were motivated to own large farms. Reference 

(Leyburn 1962) contains details. 

 
Authentic 1700s Ulster Farmhouse 

Frontier Culture Museum, Staunton, Virginia 
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Typical 1700s Ulster Clothing 

Linen manufactured from homegrown flax. 

Frontier Culture Museum, Staunton, Virginia 

1681ɀ1756, Pennsylvania  
Certainly most departing emigrants never expected to see older family members again, although they could 

correspond by mail. Ocean passage required tropical easterly trade winds and took from 6 to 10 weeks. 

This route was known as the Southern Crossing. Near Florida, ships turned north, aided by the Gulf 

Stream. Obviously, such passage was very expensive. Emigrants who could not afford the cost, indentured 

themselves as farm laborers for 4 to 7 years. 

Note: Indentured Servitude 

The principles of indentured servitude were based on the Old Testament (KJV 1611, Deuteronomy 15:12ï

14). 

 

In 1717, an Anderson-related 6th great-grandfather, Michael Holt I left Germany for America. During a stop 

in London, the shipôs captain was forced to pay debts by contracting many passengers as indentured 

servants. Consequently, Michael Holt worked for seven years for Virginiaôs Lieutenant Governor 

Alexander Spotswood in a settlement called the Second Germanna Colony (Troxler and Vincent 1999, 48). 

On 20 May 1734, William Oates I, a Plonk-related 4th great-grandfather was born on the Atlantic Ocean in 

a ship headed to Pennsylvania. It is not certain if his parents were emigrating from the United Kingdom or 

moving from coastal North Carolina (Porter, Herndon and Herndon 1973). 

The Society of Friends, or Quaker, religion began in England in the 1640s. It appealed to Protestants who 

wanted a more emotional, informal, and engaging debate in the liturgy. Its leaders quickly wrote a complete 

doctrine that rejected formal sacraments, priesthood, and violence. Quaker William Pennôs father had been 

a British Navy admiral who was owed a large debt by the crown. In 1681, this debt was paid with the 

landholding call Pennsylvania. The new government set the liberal policy of welcoming all Protestant 

immigrants. Public morals were proscribed at monthly Friendôs Meetings. Men and women met separately. 

Cornelius Empson, an Anderson-related 8th great-grandfather, was born in Booth Yorkshire, England, in 

1660. He immigrated to America and acquired large landholdings. In 1684, he purchased 1230 acres of 

land in New Jersey. That same year he purchased land in New Castle County. He named the plantations 

after his land holdings in England. These were: Wild Hook, Goole Grange, Chestnut Hill on White Clay 



 21 

Creek, and Horse Hook on Brandywine Creek in Pennsylvania, today in Delaware. These were named in 

his will  (Empson 1710, B:1:224). His first wife was Mary Watkins. Their daughter Sarah Empson was born 

20 May 1687 at Goole Grange. Mary died soon afterwards. In October 1689, Cornelius and Maryôs sister 

Elizabeth Sanderson indicated to the Friendôs Meeting their intentions to marry. Presumably she was a 

widow. Recorded proceedings from monthly Friendôs Meetings describe ordinary marriage approvals and 

the controversial marriage of Cornelius and Elizabeth. 

1689 __ day 10th mo The monthly Meeting being held at Valentine Hollingsworth 

appoints a meeting to be held at New Castle ye first day after every Quarter Sessions to 

be held at Edward Blakes. Cornelius Empson & Elizabeth Sanderson signifying their 

intentions of marriage to mens & womens meeting which being taken into serious 

consideration Could in no wise be joyned with by ye meeting by reason of their nearness 

of kin, she being his former wifes own sister. 

1689 4th day 11th mo The Monthly Meeting being held at Cornelius Empsons. said 

Empson addressing himselfe to ye meeting on account of his intentions of marriage and 

desireing some assistance from ffreinds to go to ffriends of Upland Meeting to take their 

advice on ye said matter. 

1689 8th day 12th mo The Monthly Meeting being held at Valentine Hollingworth, 

Thomas Peirson & Rose Dixon laying their intentions of marriage before this meeting. 

Itôs appointed yt George Harlan & Thomas Hollingsworth doe _____ Enquiry concering 

ye clearness of ye man & Ann Hollingsworth & Mary Connoway to make Enquiry 

Concering ye clearness of ye woman, and give an account thereof to ye next meeting. 

Michael Harlan & Dinah Dixon laying their intentions of marriage before this meeting, 

Itôs appointed yt thos Hollingsworth & nathan Cartmell to make enquiry concerning ye 

clearness of ye man & Ann Hollingworth & Mary Connoway to make enquiry of ye 

clearness of woman & to give an accth thereof to ye next monthly meeting. 

1689/90 1st day 1st mo The Monthly Meeting being held at valentine Hollingsworths 

forasmuch as Cornelius Empson hath proceeded contrary to ye order of Truth & ye 

advice of ffriends in marrying his late wifes own Sister. It is therefore ye judgment of this 

meeting yt he ought not be Commeted amoug us any more in our mans meeting untill he 

give Satisfaction for his so doing & cleareth ye truth & untill then ffriends have with 

drew the meeting from his house. Morgan Druet & George Harlan are desired by ye 

meeting to give Cornelius Empsons to give him ye sence of ye meeting and of the 

proceedings as aforesaid. The Meeting desires Val Hollingsworth to speak to his son. ___ 

to be as ye next Monthly Meeting. Thomas Pierson & Rose Dixon making their 

appearance before this meeting in order to their marriage (this being ye second time) 

Geo. Harl & Thos Hollingsworth having been appointed ye last meeting to make Enquiry 

Concerning ye Clearness of the man & Ann Hollingsworth & mary Connoway to make 

Enquiry concering ye clearness of ye woman, who accordingly have given in the report y 

t all was clear as far as they can understand. Wherefore ye meeting leaves them to their 

liberty to take one another according to the good order of Truth 

1689/90 ___ day 1 mo Michael Harlan & Dinah Dixon making their appearance before 

this meeting in order to their marriage (this being ye second time) Thomas Hollingsworth 

& nathaniel Cartmell being appointed ye last meeting to make Enquiry Concering ye 

clearness of ye man and Ann Hollingsworth & Mary Connoway to make Enquiry 

Concering ye clearness of ye woman, who accordingly have given in their report y to all 

was clear as far as they can understand wherefore ye meeting leaves y m to their Liberty 

to take one another according to the good order of Truth. We likewise of ye womens 

meeting do unanimously agree to and with ye proceedings of ye mans meeting 

concerning ye default of Cornelius Empson & we do likewise disown having any unity 

with his wife in our meeting untill she clear the Truth & acknowledge her error. 



 22 

1690 7th day 4th mo. The Monthly Meeting being held at Valentine Hollingsworth, 

Cornelius Empson sent a paper of his condemnation to ye meeting desireing ___ same 

might be recorded 7 [members voted] as being read the meeting consented thereinto and 

ordered the same to be done. 

1690 5th day 5th mo. The Monthly meeting being held at Valentine Hollingsworth 

ffreinds having ye last Monthly meeting received a paper from Cornelius Empson & 

accepted of it, they appointed Valentine Hollingsworth & Ann Sharply to give him an 

acctt thereof. 

1690 2nd day 6th mo. The Mo Meeting being at Valentine Hollingsworth, those ffreind 

which were nominated by ye last mo meeting to spake to Cornelus Empson abt ye 

meetings accepting his paper, return answer ye having spoaken to him he received their 

words very gladly & with great contempt. (Quaker 1689) 

On 29 July 1685, Cornelius Empson was appointed a justice of the peace in the southern counties of 

Pennsylvania, a part of present-day Delaware. He was appointed again on 2 January 1689 and a third term 

on 13 April 1690. He was elected to the Pennsylvania Assembly in 1686, 1693, 1695, 1696, and 1697. 

During 1698ï1701, he was a Puisne (lower, not chief) Justice of the provincial court, the equivalent of 

todayôs Pennsylvania Supreme Court. (List of Officers of the Colonies on the Delaware and the Province of 

Pennsylvania, 1614ï1776 in Pennsylvania State Archives n.d., 2:IX:630) 

Beginning about 1720, most Scotch-Irish immigrants entered America through ports Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania, or New Castle, Delaware, and first settled in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. In addition, 

many Amish, Lutherans, Moravians, and Mennonites entered. Many German emigrants were refugees 

displaced by French King Louis XIVôs expansion into Rhineland. They journeyed down the Rhine River to 

Rotterdam, Holland where they boarded ships. They were often called ñDutch.ò Unlike today, that name 

was not specific to Holland. Originally, it was a generic word for German that was equivalent to what the 

Germans called themselves ñDeutsch.ò Likewise, Scotch-Irish from Ulster were often called ñIrish 

Presbyteriansò or simply ñIrish.ò Some Scotch-Irish maintained sentimental attachment to Ireland by 

established non-religious Saint Patrick societies. The imprecise word ñMoravianò is described above. 

Confusion was compounded when these words became adjectives, as in ñDutchmanôs Creekò and 

ñMoravian band.ò Of course, only those of us in later generations are confused. The name ñAlamanceò was 

a reference to German settlers. 

 
Authentic 1700s German Palatinate Farmhouse 

Frontier Culture Museum, Staunton, Virginia 

There is a record of a John Anderson entering Pennsylvania in 1722, but it is not known for certain if he 

was our ancestor. In any event, our John Anderson was born in Ulster. In 1724, in Lancaster County 

Pennsylvania, he married Ann Moore, daughter of Margaret Moore. Margaret Moore got word that her 
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British soldier husband was thrown off a horse and died. Because of his military service, she was entitled to 

land in North Carolina. Ann Moore and her husband John Anderson inherited this claim. 

In 1729, William Mebane I, an Anderson-related 7th great-grandfather, signed a petition to create Lancaster 

County, Pennsylvania (Mebane 1999, 64ï67). 

Robert C. Carpenter, a noted author of the Carpenter Family (R. C. Carpenter 1982), wrote the following in 

a 2007 correspondence: 

There are lots of connections between the Carpenters and Blancks. Both families came 

from the same village in Switzerland ðSteffisburg, in the Canton of Bern. Both travelled 

to Alsace in present France. At that time it was a mixed French and German speaking 

area which had been de-populated as a result of the Thirty Years War. Both had 

Anabaptist leanings during these years. Both immigrated to Pennsylvania. Some lived in 

Berks County and according to Jacob he was born in Lancaster County. The 

Zimmermans lived in Cocalico Township, Lancaster County. I have spent the last two 

years reading parish records from Alsace for my Zimmermans. I have found some 

Blancks and other family connections. I believe that the Blancks came to North Carolina 

as a result of encouragement, recruitment, of the Zimmermans. Dr. Peter Blanck was the 

first one here. The brothers Jacob and Peter were here at least by the Revolutionary War. 

Jacob Plunk I, a 5th great-grandfather, and Johann Jacob Rudisill, a 6th great-grandfather, emigrated from 

Germany, probably through Holland. They first settled in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. There are two 

conflicting histories that might be resolved by careful investigation. One history is that immigrant Jacob 

Plunk landed in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, on 28 August 1735. The source is a list of immigrant names by 

Professor I. Daniel Rupp of Pennsylvania, Page 4, Rev. Joshua Kocherthal leader of immigrants. See 

Broadheadôs Documentary History of New York. Names have been preserved and are kept in the archives 

of the State of New York. An alternative history is that of Doctor Hans Jacob Plonk who emigrated from 

Germany by way of Amsterdam, Holland, and Krews, England. He landed on 31 August 1749. The name 

of the ship was ñCrown.ò Doctor Plonk was a herbalist, a doctor who grows and collects herbs. Neither of 

these histories is entirely consistent with the Plunks who immigrated to North Carolina. 

Patrick McGuire, a 4th great-grandfather, emigrated from Ireland in 1775, probably from Ulster County 

Fermanagh where the McGuire surname was common. 

As new farmland was acquired and cleared, the Pennsylvania government paid Indians a fair price. Scotch-

Irish newcomers were not generous and had poor relations with Indians. Indians retaliated during French 

and Indian War 1756ï1763. 

Note: English Currency, pound sterling 

English currency was based on the pound sterling, each equal to 20 shillings, each equal to 12 pence, each 

equal to 4 farthings. Notation was £ pound.shilling.pence. A guinea was a pound and a shilling, and thus 

written £1.1.0. One pound in 1760 equals approximately US$20 in 2000. 

 

1663ɀ1756, Virginia and Carolinas, Lord Proprietors  
On 24 March 1663, King Charles II  subdivided land south of Virginia into 8 large landholdings for political 

cronies who helped restore him to the monarchy in 1660. In the order listed on Charlesôs charter, these 

Lord Proprietors were: Earl of Clarendon, Duke of Albemarle, Lord Craven, Lord Berkeley, Lord Ashley, 

Sir George Carteret, Sir William Berkeley, and Sir John Colleton. Proprietor George Monch, or 

Lord Albemarle, was a few years earlier, the Army general that made Charles II restoration possible. 

Today, the Albemarle name applies to a coastal sound and a city. Other names continue in regional lexicon. 

These proprietorship grants appear as extravagant gifts, but they were actually charters for financial 

investors who hoped to profit from colonial development. Collectively, this region was called Carolina, a 

variation of older name Carolana that honored King Charles I who was beheaded fourteen years earlier 
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during Oliver Cromwellôs rule. By claim, Carolina extended westward to the ñSouth Seas,ò meaning 

Pacific Ocean, but England had no effective control beyond the Atlantic coast. In 1665, this area was 

extended northward 30 minutes of latitude to include Albemarle Sound, creating the approximate present-

day North Carolina-Virginia boundary. The area was also extended southward to 29 degrees latitude into 

Spanish Florida near present-day St. Augustine. On 7 December 1710, two political units, North and South 

Carolina, were established, each with its own colonial governor. 

Before bridges were common, coastlines, rivers, and creeks formed the reference system of all locations. 

 
Dugout canoe made in 1700s. 

Found in swamp near Camden, South Carolina. 

Many Native American tribes inhabited Carolina which was on the frontier of Algonquian culture to the 

north and Siouan (or Mississippian) culture to the south and west. The latter is studied at Town Creek 

Indian Mound excavation site in Montgomery County, North Carolina. 

Indians created a main trail through the Piedmont called Indian Trading Path. By running along the 

elevated ridgeline between watersheds it circumvented creeks that were impassable during flood. Of 

course, major rivers could only be crossed at fords when water level was low. A topological map reveals 

many old roads that avoid creek crossings. Todayôs bridges allow shorter routes between towns. 

The Indian Trading Path was thought to cross Eno River where Loweôs Mill was built probably in the 

1750s. In 1768, that mill was purchased by Anderson-related 6th great-grandfather Richard Faucett and 

became known by his name (W. S. Price 1988, 8:2). A segment of Indian Trading Path now coincides with 

Mebane-Rogers Road (Troxler and Vincent 1999, 29). Jacob Holt built his house off that road in 1865. 

Later, horse or mule teams pulled the house on rolling logs to it present-day site near the road. Nell 

Aldridge lives there today. 

Note: Human pathways before bridges: waterways, fall line, ridgelines, and geodesics 

Human pathways are so familiar that it is surprising how complicated they are to define physically. A 

particular pathway is a compromise between minimizing distance, time, and effort. In America before 

bridges, human pathways were waterways and ridgelines between watersheds. Since ridgelines are 

determined by watersheds, rivers and creeks formed the most useful coordinate system. In the Carolina 

Lowcountry, waterways were the principal paths. A few causeways and bridges crossed expansive marshes. 

During the Revolutionary War, it was tactically important to control these routes. Military leader called 

them passes since each was analogous to a mountain pass. Above the fall line, waterways were not 

navigable. In fact, most rivers were barriers except at fords or ferries. A good ford location was where 

water was shallow and the streambed was hard. A smooth rock bottom, or shoal, made an ideal ford. A 

good ferry location was where water was deep enough to float a heavily load barge. Some fords were 

known by their functionality, for example, Trading Ford and Shallow Ford on the Yadkin River. Most 

creeks were barriers during floods. Consequently, pathways tended to follow ridgelines to avoid possible 
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blockage. Such ridgelines are the ñnatural roads.ò They often coincide with original Indian trails. For 

example, Flat Rock Road, from Hanging Rock to Grannies Quarter Creek, coincides with the ridgeline 

between the Pee Dee and Wateree Rivers. If all roads simply followed ridgelines, then their paths would be 

entirely deterministic, and given a topological map, could be plotted by a computer. However, it is common 

that a route cut across the upper reaches of a creek where the streams are small enough to be passable 

during rains, especially if that route is a shortcut to a resource, like a farm, mill, pasturage, spring, or town. 

It is also relevant that a ridgeline can pass over a local barrier like a steep hill , stony terrain, dense thicket, 

fence line, etc. Of course, an actual road bypasses such an obstacle. What is interesting is that there can be 

two paths on either side of an obstacle that are equivalently optimal. In mathematics, such a path is called a 

geodesic. So along most roads, the ridgeline rule is deliberately broken to reach a point resource or bypass 

an obstacle. For example, the main north-south road between Camden and Charlotte deliberately avoided 

the nearest ridgeline by crossing Clems Branch for the purpose of passing by a campground and market 

with a clean and ñconstantò source of water. All this is common sense. The complexity illustrates the 

impossibility of reducing actual human pathways to deterministic physical land topography. 

 

Note: Can computers rediscover historical road paths? 

Can computers rediscover historical road paths using only physical topological data? The impossibility is 

proven by one counter example. Suppose it is known that an old road connected two points on opposite 

sides of a mountain. The mountain is symmetrical, so paths on both sides are equal in distance, gradient, 

curvature, etc. Suppose also that all ground evidence was obliterated. No computer can rediscover the 

actual historical road path because there are two possible solutions. While this example uses a hypothetical 

mountain, analogous barriers occur in many problems of this type. This does not say that computers cannot 

be useful in such problems, it only proves that computers cannot solve every such problem, in particular 

those with multiple solutions. So what can be inferred from only physical topological data? If a present-day 

road closely follows a ridgeline, as shown on a topological map, then it is reasonable to assume it was a 

historical road that predated bridges. One such road is Rehobeth Road, near Waxhaw in Union County, 

North Carolina. 

 

Catawba Indians moved into the region in approximately 1650 after being driven out of their original home 

in present-day Ohio by other Indians. Their entire population was approximately 11,000 (Lawson 1709, 

43ï44). They managed to gain control of the river now known by their name, but only in a constant state of 

war with Cherokees who resided along and west of Broad River. In a battle at Nation Ford, more than 

1000 braves died on each side. That ford was at the present-day Norfork & Southern Railroad bridge 

northeast of Rock Hill, South Carolina. Actually, the name Catawba originally applied to a sub-tribe. About 

1700, the name applied generally to an alliance of Esaw, Sugaree, Shuteree, and Catawba sub-tribes. Their 

central community was at the confluence of Sugar Creek and Catawba River. Reference (Merrell 1989a, 

92) contains details. Waxhaw Indians inhabited land south of Twelve-Mile Creek. Their culture, called 

Cofitachique, had links to Indians in present-day Mexico (Merrell 1989a, 103). They flattened the skull of 

each infant child with strapped-on sandbags. The rationale was to spread the eyes to improve hunting skills. 

Tribes often fought each other. After large numbers of European colonists settled coastal Virginia, Siouan 

tribes, Cheraw, Santee, Pee Dee, Waccamaw, and Catawba, aligned with colonists against Algonquian 

tribes, Tuscarora and Cherokee. On 22 September 1711, Tuscaroras in eastern North Carolina raided 

colonial villages including New Bern at the Neuse River mouth. That triggered the Tuscarora War. 

Colonial military leaders organized the Tuscaroraôs traditional Indian enemies. The war ended in 1713 with 

a thousand Tuscaroras killed or sold into slavery. The remainder migrated to Iroquois country in present-

day New York State. Virginian adventurers and criminals expropriated freed land. The war experience 

taught all Indians the value of organization and a clearer assessment of their common interest. In May 

1715, a local problem with Yamasees in southern South Carolina erupted in a general Indian uprising that 

included Waxhaws and Catawbas. All marched on Charlestown, seriously threatening the South Carolina 

government until George Chicken, a colonial military leader with an unlikely name, and a band of colonists 

attacked undefended Indian villages behind the advancing warriors. The Indian advance collapsed. 

Catawbas wanted peace and blamed Waxhaws for forcing their involvement. In August 1716, Catawbas 
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destroyed the Waxhaw tribe. Survivors and other vanquished Indians migrated and merged into what 

became known as Catawba Indian Nation. It was in present-day Lancaster and York Counties. Catawbas 

traded deerskins for manufactured goods, in particular, guns, gunpowder, tools, and textiles. Although 

Catawbas survived colonial settlers, they had strong Indian enemies. They were subjected to Iroquoian 

Shawnee raiders from as far away as the Ohio River. For these reasons, Catawbas allied themselves with 

settlers during the French and Indian War and American Revolution (Merrell 1989a, 161). 

Lumbees have a distinctive history. Before modern transportation, their land, in present-day Robeson 

County, was isolated by swamps from other Indians and Europeans. Nonetheless, as early as 1730, they had 

an entirely European way of life that included English language, European-style houses, and farming 

methods. Their surnames included those of Lost Colonists who disappeared sometime between 1587 and 

1590. Reference (Dial and Eliades 1996) discusses this evidence. Lumbees have always been self-

sufficient, never subject to federal government Indian-Affairs programs, and vigorously defended 

themselves against racial prejudice. Today, Lumbees are prominent near Pembroke, North Carolina. 

About 1717, Ralph Outlaw and his wife Ann, who were Anderson-related 6th great-grandparents, moved 

from Surry County, Virginia, to Chowan County, North Carolina. Ralph purchased land on the south side 

of Catherine Creek, or probably Cashie Creek. He later purchased land near Wildcat Swamp. These sites 

are now in Bertie County. 

The proprietorships were not as profitable as hoped. On 25 July 1729, all except one of the 8 proprietors 

sold their holdings back to the English government that then began promoting inland settlement. The price 

was £17,500. Proprietor John Carteret, Lord Granville, kept his landholding that was north of latitude 

35 degrees 34 minutes, which was approximately the northern half of North Carolina. Today, that boundary 

is evident as the northern edge of Moore, Montgomery, Stanly, Cabarrus, Mecklenburg, and Lincoln 

Counties with slight adjustments. Granville hired private officers to sell land to new immigrants. 

Note: North Carolina ð South Carolina boundary 

On 24 March 1663, King Charles II  organized the land south of Virginia. It was called Carolina. By claim, 

it extended westward to the ñSouth Seas,ò meaning Pacific Ocean, but England had no effective control 

beyond the Atlantic coast. In 1665, this area was extended northward 30 minutes of latitude to include 

Albemarle Sound, creating the approximate present-day North Carolina-Virginia boundary. The area was 

also extended southward to 29 degrees latitude into Spanish Florida near present-day St. Augustine. On 

7 December 1710, two political units, North and South Carolina, were established, each with its own 

colonial governor. A 1734 agreement specified rules that would determine the North and South Carolina 

boundary. From the coast, the boundary started 30 miles south of the Cape Fear River mouth. It then ran 

along a straight line that could never be closer than 30 miles from the Cape Fear River. This boundary line 

was to stop at latitude 35 degrees, but the surveyors stopped short of that latitude because of working ñwith 

Extraordinary fatigue Running the said Line most of that time throô Desart and uninhabited woods...ò (L. 

Pettus n.d., 3). In 1759, surveyors were to continue westward along latitude 35 degrees, but by confusion 

began from the last measurement at latitude 34 degrees 48 minutes, about 11 miles south of the intended 

latitude. They were instructed to terminate the survey at Salisbury Road, a principal backcountry road that 

may have connected the natural fords of Lands Ford on the Catawba River and Trading Ford on the Yadkin 

River. After the boundary was set, it was too late to correct. North Carolina acquired about 600 square 

miles originally intended for South Carolina. During the French and Indian War 1756ï1763, Catawba 

Indians supported European settlers against other tribes. In the 1763 Treaty of Augusta, they secured a 15-

mile square area known as the Catawba Nation (L. Pettus 2005b). Two corners of that square are evident in 

the boundary today. In 1772, to compensate South Carolina, an equal area was taken from North Carolina 

west of Catawba River beginning at the South Fork confluence (Plan of the Boundary Line Between the 

Provinces of South and North Carolina 1772) (A. S. Salley 1929, 29). The South Carolina Head 

Commissioner was William Moultrie (C. S. Davis 1942), who wrote: 

They had tents and a wagon to carry their baggage; after the usual compliments and a 

glass or two of wine we proceeded immediately to business, by each party showing his 

commission and instructions to the other. We agreed that a surveyor from each Province 
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should attend the Compass every day and that the chain should be carried alternately, and 

two blazers from each side to follow the Surveyors. We waited at the old corner tree till 

12 oôclock to take an observation. Sunôs altitude 75ð35 latitude 34.48. After dinner we 

proceeded and encamped at a Run about 4 ½ miles, we took the various courses along the 

Salisbury road, which made it very tedious.ò The next day the surveyors had a good day 

and made 11 ½ miles. The following day it was 8 miles. On Sunday they took a break 

and went into Charlotte Town in Mecklenburg County. ñThe town has a tolerable Court 

house of wood about 80 by 40 feet, and a jail, a store, a Tavern and several other houses 

say 5 or 6, but very ordinary built of logs. From here we went to Capt. Polks, about a 

mile, spent the day agreeable and returned to camp about 12 miles off. (L. Pettus 1992) 

In South Carolina, the region was called New Acquisition District (B. P. Robinson 1957, 315). That 

adjustment accounts for the stair-step state border and the southern boundary of York County, South 

Carolina. It new state line not well received in Mecklenburg, Tryon, and the New Acquisition District since 

it arbitrarily separated settlers with common heritage (B. P. Robinson 1963, 66). In 1785, South Carolina 

established Lancaster and York Districts. 

 

Since 1665, only Englishmen were allowed to own land in British American colonies. The Colonial 

Naturalization Act of 1740 was enacted by King George II  to enable those foreigners who were already in 

the colonies to take an oath of allegiance to the British government and thereby be granted land in areas 

which the British government desired to develop, for example North Carolina. This right was granted to 

foreign Protestants and others residing seven years in America who should take the oath of abjuration, 

made the declaration of fidelity, and receive the sacraments. A foreign born Protestant simply had to go 

before Chief Judge or another judge in the colony and take the prescribed oaths and proved through the 

testimony of two witnesses and a certificate from his minister that he had received the sacrament within the 

last three months. 

Before 1763, France claimed the entire Mississippi River watershed. Its Fort Duquesne, present-day 

Pittsburgh, blocked English settlement west of Pennsylvania. Because of that, Indian conflicts, and rising 

Pennsylvania land prices, younger Scotch-Irish and Germans moved south. Beginning in 1730, Scotch-Irish 

and Germans settled Virginiaôs Shenandoah Valley and then the Carolina Piedmont. They traveled along 

what was later called the Great Wagon Road. At that time, a wagon road meant a good road wide enough 

for a wagon and better than a typical unimproved trading path. A desirable wagon type, named Conestoga 

for the Pennsylvania town where it was manufactured, had a sunken floor for high capacity and stability. 

Moving occurred after autumn harvest and before spring planting. 
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Great Wagon Road 

From Rowan County Information Web Site. 

Note: Great Wagon Road 

Questions about the Great Wagon Road often arise on field trips. One historian challenged anyone to find a 

use of the expression ñGreat Wagon Roadò before 1800. As yet, no single instance has been found. 

However, there are many instances of ñgreat roadò which meant more or less what we mean by "closest 

major highway". It did not mean one specific road, just the closest major road from wherever you happened 

to be. Also, ñwagon roadò meant a road good enough for commercial traffic with wagons. Farmers were 

ordered by the government to maintain such commercial wagon road near their property. Unlike today, 

roads did not have official names. They were usually called by wherever they led. So for example, Camden 

Road and Charlotte Road could be same physical road. Thus today, people are predisposed to believe 

ñGreat Wagon Roadò must have been an official name. But in the 1700s almost no roads in the countryside 

had official names. So, the Great Wagon Road was probably never a specific road. It is usually a metaphor 

for the mass migration of Scotch-Irish and German settlers from Pennsylvania to the Carolinas.

 

Note: Indian Old Fields 

Beforehand, Indians used fire to maintain wide fields as habitat for buffalo, elk, and deer in Shenandoah 

Valley and Carolinas. Settlers assigned names like ñOld Fieldsò and ñHaw Fields.ò Already free of trees, 

these fields were quickly converted to farmland. Each settler family selected a home site near a spring or 

cheek.

 

Note: House Construction 

A settlerôs first house was typically a log cabin of hewn logs. Logs were cut from virgin oak timber and 

were often more than 12 inches wide and 6 inches thick. They were joined in corners using a dovetailing 

method called notch and chamfer (Boyte 1992, 17). 
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Notch and Chamfer Dovetailing 

That created a strong box structure that could support internal crossbeams and floors. Gaps between logs 

were filled with wadded mud called chinking. The front door faced south for maximum sunlight. The house 

had few if any windows. Today, many such structures remain standing after 200 years. The kitchen was 

separate from the house to minimize the fire hazard. Preparing meals was a daylong task (Randolph 1838).

 

One of the early Scotch-Irish settlements occurred on the Eno River. William Few, 1748ï1828, later wrote: 

[About 1740, my father] halted in order to explore the country, and being pleased with 

the soil and climate, purchased lands on the banks of the river Eno, in the county of 

Orange. Those lands were in their natural state. Not a tree had been cut. é In that 

country, at that time, there were no schools, no churches or parsons, or doctors or 

lawyers; no stores, groceries or taverns. (Few 1820 in Dula 1979) 

John Anderson, a 6th great-grandfather, and his wife Ann Moore migrated to North Carolina during 1738ï

1739 winter (J. H. Anderson 1898, 3). Their plan was to settle near either Yadkin or Catawba River. In 

progress, they learned of a smallpox outbreak at those locations. Consequently, they moved east and settled 

where the two forks of Eno River combine. Eno River was named for local Oenock Indians. Being one of 

the first settlers in that area, John Anderson became a prominent resident. Eno Presbyterian Church was 

organized in his home (Ellis, Ellis and Hughes 1955). 

About 1748, Alexander Mebane I, an Anderson-related 6th great-grandfather, moved his family from 

Pennsylvania to North Carolina. His brother William Mebane II  migrated his family further west to Buffalo 

Creek in present-day Guilford County (Mebane 1999, 80). Additional information about Mebane and 

Anderson families is in (Holmes n.d.) and (Mebane 1999). 

Note: County government, Sheriff 

Local governments were modeled on English county government. Freemen voted for justices of the peace 

among candidates selected by the colonial Assembly, or legislature. These justices of the peace selected 

one of themselves as sheriff, subject to the Assemblyôs approval. The sheriff was the countyôs chief 

executive and had wide authority. His principal responsibility was to enforce justice of the peace rulings as 

warrant and summons officer with power to appoint armed deputies. He was also jailer, tax collector, 

elections supervisor, and militia leader. This collusion between Assemblymen and local officials led to 

oligarchy. Two-thirds of Assemblymen were also justices of the peace. The corrupting system was called 

ñcourthouse ring.ò (B. P. Robinson 1963, 55).

 



 30 

On 31 March 1752, Orange County was established. It was named for William of Orange, the liberator of 

Ulster in 1689. The new country extended to the Virginia border. 

In 1751, Alexander Mebane I was an Anson County justice of the peace. In 1752, he was appointed Orange 

Countyôs first sheriff. 

Note: Roadside Inns called ñOrdinariesò 

County government licensed roadhouse inns, each called an ñordinaryò since it was regulated by ordinance. 

Fixed prices for lodging, dinners, liquor, horse stabling, and pasturage protected new immigrants from 

price gouging. But prices were high enough to make ownership very profitable. Guests, although strangers, 

might share the same room and bed (Thorp 1996). Many ordinaries were licensed and operated by single 

women or widows (K. Moore 2016). 

In 1757, Ann Moore, widow of John Anderson and a 6th great-grandmother, renewed her license to operate 

an ordinary in Corbintown, later Hillsborough. See page 34.

 

In 1752, Moravian Bishop August Gottlieb Spangenberg explored the Piedmont for a suitable community 

site. Because this trip was commissioned, he wrote a detailed log. In 1753, Moravians purchased and 

settled on 100,000 acres that they called Wachovia, the Latin word for the Wachau Valley, the homeland of 

their leader Count Nicholas Ludwig von Zinzendorf (1700ï1760) in present-day Austria. The first village 

was Bethabara [pronounced Beth-thab-bar-ra]. Soon afterwards, Salem was settled along a major tributary 

of Yadkin River. Moravians stressed community and cooperation. Their good deeds were highly respected 

by other immigrants. 

While in route in 1752, Bishop Gottlieb Spangenberg, stopped at Alexander Mebane Iôs Hawfields 

roadhouse inn, then called an ñordinary.ò His expenses were 10 shillings and 6 pence (Troxler and Vincent 

1999, 45). 

In 1918, Mary Louise McGuire was a teacher at Salem School. She described how Salem church bells rung 

on Armistice Day, 11 November 1918, which ended World War I. 

Note: Militia  

The militia was a local defense system based on an English feudal tradition that began with the 1181 Assize 

of Arms. At the time of the American Revolution, state assemblies ordered the creation of militia regiments, 

each typically in county. A leading local citizen, typically with military experience, was given a colonelôs 

commission. Thus, a militia regiment with its colonel was a legally-sanctioned institution. The colonel was 

accountable to the state. It typically persisted for many years while its officers and soldiers rotated in and 

out of tours of service. The militia required service of every able-bodied male age 16ï60. Each man kept a 

musket, balls, and gunpowder. The local militia unit drilled a few times each year. During times of alarm, 

some militiamen drilled frequently and maintained a heightened state of readiness. They were called 

Minutemen. Typically, militiamen elected their officers, whose names were submitted to the Assembly and 

finally the Governor for commissions. Militia rank did not necessarily imply special military training or 

experience. A civic leader who could assemble militia soldiers or had special business skills was assigned 

rank. Militia leaders studied published British Army drill manuals. Reference (Wilbur 1993) illustrates life 

of a typical militiaman. He did not wear a uniform, but his own leather hunting coat over cotton or wool 

clothing that included a loose-fitting shirt, knee britches, leggings, and round hat with brim pinned on one 

side so as not to interfere with a shoulder-carried musket or rifle. In addition, he carried a cartridge box, 

leather or wood canteen, blanket, and haversack. The standard military weapon was the 9.5-pound Brown 

Bess musket. That nickname arose in the early 1700s when it replaced an older musket with stock painted 

black. Musket use created the expressions ñlock, stock, and barrel,ò ñhalf-cocked,ò and ñflash in the pan.ò 

However, many militia armories had fewer muskets than militiamen. So, a militiaman might use his 

hunting rifle. The American-made Deckard rifle was the best at that time. Its nickname was Kentucky long 

rifle. While in the field, militiamen cooked their own meals in small groups. They ate two meals a day, 
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breakfast and dinner, unless marching when they pre-cooked food for several days. They typically ate corn 

meal, beans, and chicken, beef, or pork cooked on a skewer. 

 
From Guilford Courthouse National Military Park Web Page 

 

Note: Musket ball archeology 

Archeologists can estimate the original diameter of a fired musket ball using the Sivilich Formula. 

Diameter in inches = 0.2228 x (weight in grams)1/3 

It is named after Dan Sivilich, an archaeologist who worked at Monmouth battlefield in 1996. 

A lead shotôs original diameter indicates what caliber barrel it was molded to fit, for example, 0.67 to 0.69 

inches was a standard lead ball for a British Brown Bess 0.75 inch musket. (Allison 2009ï2016) 

 

Although Catawba and other Piedmont Indian tribes were allied with colonists, their condition deteriorated, 

especially by smallpox. Epidemics in 1738 and 1759 reduced Catawba Indian population to less than 1000 

with only 200 fighting braves. In 1759, to avoid smallpox at the Sugar Creek village, Catawba King Hagler 

created a new village where Twelve-Mile Creek joins the Catawba River (Merrell 1989a, 195). In 1760, he 

skillfully negotiated with both North and South Carolina colonial governments to legally establish the 

Catawba Indian Nation boundary on a 15-mile square. Catawbas became landlords collecting rents from 

settlers. A fort was built at present-day Fort Mill, South Carolina, for protection against other Indians and 

to free braves for soldier duty. By agreement, Catawba Nation was to remain entirely in South Carolina. A 

corner of this square is evident today in a right-angle notch along the state boundary immediately west of 

Pineville, North Carolina. After King Hagler was killed by Shawnee raiders in 1763, no effective Catawba 

leadership emerged. In 1840, all but 600 acres of the Nation were sold to the South Carolina government 

(Merrell 1989a, 249). 

During the early 1900s, the father of Doctor Robert Ashe Moore, uncle of Chris Evans Folk Sr., established 

Ashe Brick Company near this Twelve-Mile Creek site. 
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The Dunkards religious sect arose in Germany in 1708. They practiced triple total immersion baptism to 

imitate original Christians. They were pacifists to the extent that they rejected courts to settle disputes. 

Later, they merged with Moravians. 

In the 1730s, Englishman John Wesley, influenced by Moravian beliefs and policies, appealed to middle-

class workers alienated by Anglican Church formalities. During 1736ï1737, he was rector of Christ 

Church, an Anglican church, in Savannah, Georgia. There he instituted Sunday school and published the 

first hymnal in the colonies. 

 
Christ Church, Savannah, Georgia 

John Wesley rector 1736ï1737. 

In 1761, Wesley published Select Hymns with Tunes Annext in which he provided Directions for Singing. 

Directions for Singing  

That this part of Divine Worship may be the more acceptable to God, as well as the more 

profitable to yourself and others, be careful to observe the following directions. 

I. Learn these tunes before you learn any others; afterwards learn as many as you 

please. 

II. Sing them exactly as they are printed here, without altering or mending them at 

all; and if you have learned to sing them otherwise, unlearn it as soon as you 

can. 

III.  Sing all. See that you join with the congregation as frequently as you can. Let 

not a slight degree of weakness or weariness hinder you. If it is a cross to you, 

take it up, and you will find it a blessing. 

IV.  Sing lustily and with a good courage. Beware of singing as if you were half 

dead, or half asleep; but lift up your voice with strength. Be no more afraid of 

your voice now, nor more ashamed of its being heard, than when you sung the 

songs of Satan. 

V. Sing modestly. Do not bawl, so as to be heard above or distinct from the rest of 

the congregation, that you may not destroy the harmony; but strive to unite your 

voices together, so as to make one clear melodious sound. 

VI.  Sing in time. Whatever time is sung be sure to keep with it. Do not run before 

nor stay behind it; but attend close to the leading voices, and move therewith as 

exactly as you can; and take care not to sing too slow. This drawling way 

naturally steals on all who are lazy; and it is high time to drive it out from us, 

and sing all our tunes just as quick as we did at first. 

VII.  Above all sing spiritually. Have an eye to God in every word you sing. Aim at 

pleasing him more than yourself, or any other creature. In order to do this attend 
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strictly to the sense of what you sing, and see that your heart is not carried away 

with the sound, but offered to God continually; so shall your singing be such as 

the Lord will approve here, and reward you when he cometh in the clouds of 

heaven. (Wesley 1761, appendage) 

In the 1790s, Wesleyôs followers formed the Methodist Church. Using similar methods, Jonathan Edwards 

formed the Congregationalist Church in America. 

Similarly, during mid-1700s, the Presbyterian New Side movement appealed to rural less-educated 

churchgoers. The newly published Watts Hymnal contained hymns not based on psalms. This disturbed 

traditional Presbyterians. For example, about 1800, in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina, traditionalists 

departed Providence Presbyterian Church and formed Sardis Presbyterian Church (Foote 1846, 249). Even 

today, Presbyterian hymnbooks reflect this history. A large section contains psalm-based hymns that 

predate 1800. 

In 1754, Arthur Dobbs, an Ulster politician, was appointed North Carolina colonial governor. He 

encouraged settlement by more Ulstermen. His residence and seat of government was Brunswick Town 

near the Cape Fear River mouth. 

 
Original Saint Philipôs Anglican Church 

Governor Arthur Dobbsôs burial site. 

Brunswick Town, North Carolina 

In 1754, where the Indian Trading Path crosses the Eno River, William Churton surveyed 400 acres for a 

new town in the newly established Orange County. It became the capital of the backcountry. It was called 

Corbintown, and later Hillsborough. (Dula 1979, 15) 

On 1 October 1754, in court held at Eno, ñGrand Jury Impannelled and sworn to wit ï John Anderson, é 

John Tinnen, Cairns Tinnen éò (Orange County Inferior Court 1756ï1758, 21:41) 

The 1755 Orange County Tax List shows John Anderson household with 4 White males and no slaves. 

Presumably, these 4 were father John and three sons age 21 or older: William, James, and David. 

(Orange County 1755) 

On 10 June 1755, in court held at house of James Watson, ñJohn Anderson was appointed Constable in the 

room of Thomas Wilkinsonò (Orange County Inferior Court 1756ï1758, 30:60) 

During 1755ï1756, Presbyterian minister Hugh McAden toured much of settled North Carolina and South 

Carolina. He wrote a detailed journal. 

On Friday 8 August 1755, Hugh McAden stopped at John Andersonôs home. On Sunday 10 August, he 

preached ñto a set of pretty regular Presbyterians,ò who appeared to him to be in a cold state of religious 

feeling. ñIn the evening returned to Mr. Andersonôs; here I tarried till Tuesday, the 12th of August; 

preached again to the same company.ò On Wednesday 20 August 1755, after a side trip, Hugh McAden 

returned to John Andersonôs home. On Friday 22 August, he rode ñto the Hawfieldôs, where I preached the 

fourth Sabbath in August, to a considerable large congregation, chiefly Presbyterians, who seemed highly 

pleased and very desirous to hear the word. Preached again on Tuesday; the people came out to hear quite 
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beyond expectation. Wednesday, set out upon my journey, and came to the Buffalo Settlement, about 

thirty-fi ve miles; lodged at William Mebane IIôs till Sabbath day; then rode to Adam Michelôs where I 

preached;ò (McAden 1755 in Foote 1846, 166). McAdenôs diary allegedly indicates that he baptized the 

children of Alexander Mebane I on 19 August 1755 at Hawfields. 

On Sunday 12 October 1755, Hugh McAden rode seven miles to Justice [William] Alexanderôs, ñwhen I 

preached in the afternoon, a considerable solemnity appeared.ò On Friday 17 October, he preached at 

David Caldwellôs, about five or six miles, to a small congregation, and went on to William Alexanderôs, 

and tarried till Sunday 19 October, and then rode about twelve miles to James Alexanderôs, on Sugar 

Creek, and preachedðñwhere there are some pretty serious, judicious peopleðmay the Lord grant his 

blessing!ò (McAden 1755 in Foote 1846, 168). Then McAden traveled to Broad River in South Carolina. 

On Sunday 30 November, during his return, he stopped at James Alexanderôs and preached. He then 

proceeded twelve miles to Justice [William] Alexanderôs on Rocky River (McAden 1755 in Foote 1846, 

170). 

On Thursday 22 April 1756, Hugh McAden returned to Eno River and home of John Anderson, ñwho 

seemed very joyful to see me returned so far back again.ò McAden tarried till Sunday and preached. He 

preached Tuesday 27 April at Hawfields and Wednesday 28 April at Eno (McAden 1756 in Foote 1846, 

174). John Anderson died later that year (Orange County Inferior Court 1756ï1758, Fol47p94). In 

September 1757 and again on 12 December 1758, Orange County renewed his wife, Ann Mooreôs, license 

to operate a roadside inn, called an ordinary (Orange County Inferior Court 1756ï1758, Fol61p122, 

Fol16p169). 

Apparently, John Anderson died before December 1756 when in court held at Courthouse in Corbintown, 

ñAnn Anderson and [son] John Anderson, Administrators of John Anderson, dec., filed an Inventory of the 

estate.ò (Orange County Inferior Court 1756ï1758, 47:94) 

In September 1757, in Orange County Court, ñMrs. Ann Andersonôs license to run an Ordinary in 

Corbintown renewed. Her securities: Thomas Lapsey [Lapsley] and James Taylor.ò 

(Orange County Inferior Court 1756ï1758, 61:122) Thomas Lapsley was her son-in-law. Did Ann Moore 

leave her farm to open an ñordinaryò business in Corbintown after her husband died and when she was in 

her 50s? She must have been land-rich. Her land was probably not at risk during the French-Indian War. 

Was hard-currency ñordinaryò business too good to pass up? It would be complicated to set up an 

ñordinaryò inn business in town since it required excess rooms, beds, access to food produce, livestock, 

stables and forage for travelling horses, etc. She would have to pay for all that in town. On the other hand, 

if she already had an established farm and a good location along a principal highway, she could have easily 

set up an ordinary business at no extra cost. On 12 December 1758, at the Courthouse in Corbintown, ñAnn 

Andersonôs Ordinary license renewed. Securities: Alex. Mebane, Wm. Reed, Esq.ôs.ò 

(Orange County Inferior Court 1756ï1758, 16:169) This was the last court entry for Ann Moore. She may 

have died in 1759 or soon afterwards. Her unmarked grave was said to be the first grave in Old Eno 

Presbyterian Church Cemetery (Engstrom 1970, 3). 

Since 1663, Carolina colonial governments tolerated any religion since the primary objected was to 

encourage immigration. The earliest Scotch-Irish settlements in the Piedmont were too isolated to be 

influenced by the coastal established Anglican Church. Presbyterians built churches and actively sought 

trained preachers. As the Piedmont became better organized, the established church attempted to assert its 

authority. Marriages had to occur in an established church. In reaction, many Presbyterians signed anti-

vestry petitions arguing that rules were too burdensome and illegitimatized existing churches. 

In 1756, Alexander Mebane I, William Anderson, and other Presbyterians signed Orange County Anti-

Vestry Petition. This petitionôs text appears in (Mebane 1999, 88ï90). 

In September 1759, an Orange County Court fined John Tinnin, an Anderson-related 6th great-granduncle, 

5 shillings for ñcontempt of Authority.ò (Shields 1990, 56) 
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1745ɀ1770, Highlander Persecutions  
In 1690, King James II  lost any chance of regaining the English crown. The main issue was that he was 

Roman Catholic. His claim was recognized by the Vatican, powerful France, and many British 

conservatives, including Highland Scots. His Protestant daughters Mary and Anne ruled after him. 

Although Queen Anne had seventeen children, none survived her. In 1701, the Whig dominated 

Parliament, fearing that James IIôs son James Edward could become king, passed the Act of Settlement that 

made the next monarch German Protestant Electress Sophia of Hanover, a granddaughter of James I. Anne 

outlived Sophia by 6 weeks. So, on 1 August 1714, the next monarch was Sophiaôs son, George. He could 

not speak English, and relied on translators for his entire reign. Since that time to the present, English 

monarchs have been from the so-called House of Hanover. During World War I, 1914ï1918, the name was 

changed to House of Windsor to avoid German connotations. 

In 1745, Highland Scots opposed to the 1707 union rallied behind Bonnie Prince Charles, grandson of 

James II, who would otherwise be King of Scotland. Within weeks, Charles gathered up to 8000 soldiers, 

completely surprising the English. His force was enough to march towards London, but hopelessly 

inadequate to effect concessions. The English defeated this force on 16 April 1746 at Battle of Culloden 

[pronounced CǾ-lŁ-den]. For a few months afterwards, Charles was the target of a large manhunt. A 

£30,000 reward was offered (Foote 1846, 128). Flora Macdonald, age 24, helped him escape between 

islands in a rowboat while he was disguised as Floraôs maidservant. Ultimately, Charles got to safety in 

France. Flora was arrested, taken to London, and questioned about her involvement. She told the Prince of 

Wales that she would do the same for him had she found him in like distress. In the publicôs perception, she 

was innocent and the only redeeming personality in the national tragedy. She cultivated that celebrity 

status. 

 
Flora Macdonald 

Painted by Allan Ramsay, 1749. 

King George II  pardoned many rebels on condition that they take an oath of allegiance and emigrate to 

colonial plantations. Among these were the first Highlanders to settle near Cross Creek, present-day 

Fayetteville, North Carolina (Foote 1846, 129). 

After Culloden, firearms were confiscated. Highland culture was curtailed by the Act of Proscription. From 

1747 until 1781, it was unlawful to wear a kilt or play a bagpipe. On 15 November 1746, James Reid, an 

unfortunate piper soldier, was executed after a judge accepted the argument that a bagpipe was a weapon. 

New laws and higher rents cleared Highlanders off their land. They were replaced with sheep, bitterly 

called ñfour-legged clansmen.ò Affected families were devastated. On the other hand, clearances resulted in 

better land management. It ended the centuries-old practice of denuding forests, an environmental disaster 

that remains evident today. 
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After Culloden, the British Army formed its famous Highland Regiments partly to relieve unemployment. 

The 42nd Highland Regiment, also known as the Black Watch Regiment, attacked Fort Ticonderoga in 

1758. It participated at Harlem Heights during the American Revolution in 1776. The 71st Highland 

Regiment, also known as Fraser Highlanders, was under Cornwallisôs command during 1780ï1781 

(Brander 1971, 164). 

1750ɀ1770, Carolina Piedmont  
In February 1764, Orange County Court ordered construction a new road by jurors including 5th great-

granduncles James Anderson, David Anderson, Thomas Lapslie, and George Allen. That road may have 

been 15 miles long. These assignees did the work personally or hired crews. 

Ordered that a road from Isaac Loweôs mill to Alexander Mebaneôs mill and from thence 

to Woodyôs Ferry on Haw River be opened é by the following jurors é James 

Anderson, David Anderson, Francis Wilkinson, Thomas Lapsey [Lapslie], James 

McGown, Thomas Cate, Sr., Thomas Cate, Jr., Robert Cate, Robert Tinnen, George 

Allen, and Cairns Tinnen, é (Orange County Court 1777ï1788, III:149) 

Many Scotch-Irish and Germans settled in the Catawba River valley. Thomas Spratt Senior and his family 

were the first settlers in what later became Charlotte, North Carolina. His home was along present-day 

Randolph Road near Presbyterian Hospital. A family cemetery was created nearby. The human remains 

were disturbed when Mercy Hospital was built in 1912. In 2007, these remains were reburied at Steele 

Creek Presbyterian Church Cemetery. Thomas Sprattôs daughter Susanna Spratt married local leader 

Thomas Polk. About 1755, his son Thomas Spratt Junior settled about 18 miles south close Catawba Indian 

villages and along the road to Catawba Nation Ford. In the part of Bladen, later Anson, County that became 

Rowan, Mecklenburg, Iredell, and Cabarrus Counties, Scotch-Irish Presbyterians organized the following 

12 churches: Catheyôs 1747, Rocky River about 1750, Third Creek 1751, Coddle Creek 1753, Sugar Creek 

1755, Steele Creek 1760, Hopewell 1762, Poplar Tent 1764, Fourth Creek 1764, Centre 1765, Providence 

1767, and Clear Creek 1770. Of these, 7 originated in Mecklenburg County (Blythe and Brockmann 1961, 

195). Centre Church was organized in Mecklenburg County but moved to Rowan County, now Iredell 

County. Poplar Tent and Rocky River Churches are now in Cabarrus County. About 1777, Catheyôs 

Presbyterian Church was renamed Thyatira Presbyterian Church. In 1780, Clear Creek Presbyterian Church 

was renamed Philadelphia Presbyterian Church. In 1924, Sugar Creek Presbyterian Creek Church was 

renamed Sugaw Creek Presbyterian Church (McGeachy 1954). In 1764 or 1765, Reverend Alexander 

McWhorter visited this region to help organize the earliest of these Presbyterian congregations (Dussek 

2011ï2014). 

About 1766, Jacob Plunk I, a 5th great-grandfather, with his two sons Jacob Plunk II and Peter Plunk, 

settled in Catawba River South Fork watershed along with many other German-speaking immigrants 

(Plunk, Jacob, pension application 1832) (Arney, Christian, pension application 1832ï1833). The original 

Plunk home site may have been on Long Creek in present-day Gaston County. Jacob Plunk II  and Peter 

Plunk moved to the Indian Creek area in 1787 and before the 1790 United States Census (Carpenter, 

correspondence 2006ï2018). That was on present-day Old Lincolnton Crouse Road. There is no remaining 

evidence on the ground. Today, that site is in the yard of 4th cousin Gary Chapmanôs house. 
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Jacob Plunk II home place site 

Plonk Family Cemetery is 0.3 miles away on a picturesque knoll overlooking Indian Creek. It is just north 

of highway NC150 bridge over Indian Creek near present-day Crouse, North Carolina. A 1930 stone 

monument commemorates Jacob Plunk II. Its bronze plate was lost and replaced in 2006. In 2007, the 

cemetery and surrounding property was purchased and donated to the Lincoln County Historic Properties 

Commission (W. L. Anderson 2011a). The original Old Crouse Road is discernable between the graveyard 

and creek. 

 
Jacob Plunk II Marker, 4 feet high, Crouse, North Carolina 

About 1770, Thomas Espey, a 5th great-grandfather, with his family, settled in Long Creek area of Tryon 

County, present-day Gaston County (Espey, Samuel, pension application 1832). 

William Oates I and his wife Jane Sloan, 4th great-grandparents, belonged to the Presbyterian Church in 

Mercersburg, present-day Franklin, Cumberland County, Pennsylvania. Before 1776, they migrated to 

Tryon County, North Carolina. They settled west of Muddy Fork Creek in present-day Cleveland County. 

About 1777, Jane Sloanôs brother John and other sisters with their families migrated. (Porter, Herndon and 

Herndon 1973, 14ï15) 
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After 1750, new immigrants settled South Carolina Piedmont, especially near Waxhaws and Longs Canes, 

present-day Abbeville. By 1775, approximately 200,000 Scotch-Irish lived in Virginia or the Carolinas. 

There were an equal number of Germans. Together, these were approximately half the total populations. 

Virginia and Carolina Settlement Approximate Timeline 

Starting Year Cluster Location State Group 

1663 Pennsylvania PA Quakers, Scotch-Irish, German, Amish 

1670 Edenton, Halifax, Brunswick Carolina English 

1670 Charlestown Carolina English 

1680 New Bern Carolina German-speaking Swiss 

1714 Germanna VA German 

1730 Shenandoah Valley VA Scotch-Irish, German, Mennonite 

1735 Upper Pee Dee SC Welsh Baptist 

1740 Eno River NC Scotch-Irish 

1750 Hawfields NC Scotch-Irish 

1750 New Garden, Stinking Quarter 

Creek 

NC Quaker 

1750 Upper Cape Fear River NC Highland Scotch 

1750 Alamance Creek NC German 

1750 Waxhaws NC, SC Scotch-Irish 

1753 Bethabara NC Moravian 

1760 Mecklenburg NC Scotch-Irish 

1760 South Fork Catawba River NC German 

1760 Williamsburg County SC Scotch-Irish 

1760 Purrysburgh, Savannah River SC German-speaking Swiss 

1760 Saxe Gotha SC German 

1760 Dutch Fork SC German 

1760 Newberry SC German 

1765 Long Canes SC Scotch-Irish 

1770 South of Congaree-Santee 

River 

SC German 

1780 Healing Springs SC Mennonite 

 

Family ancestors were active in the following churches: 

Eno Presbyterian Church began about 1740 in Orange County. Tradition indicates it was founded in John 

Andersonôs home. In 1754, Thomas Thompson deeded land to John Anderson to erect the first church 

structure. 

It was said that Mr. Thompson wanted to give the land for the church, but [John] 

Anderson had a knowledge of the law that there must be a consideration of money in the 

transfer of real estate, so he paid the money and the Deed was made out in his name. (J. 

H. Anderson 1898, 3) 
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Eno Presbyterian Church 

Original-site marker indicates land deeded to John Anderson in 1754. 

Present-day site in Cedar Grove, North Carolina. 

John Andersonôs wife Ann Moore was said to be the first person buried in Old Eno Presbyterian Church 

Cemetery about 1760 (Engstrom 1970, 3). Richard Faucett, a Whitted-related 6th great-grandfather, may be 

buried there. His son, David Faucett (W. S. Price 1988, 8:2), thought to be a Whitted-related 5th great-

grandfather, may have the marked gravestone: 

 
Gravestone of D Faucett 

Hawfields Presbyterian began in 1755 in Orange County. Mebane family attended. The original site was 

about three miles east of the current site (Turner 1962). It can be seen on the south side of highway I85 

midway between mile marker 155 and 156 as a grove of trees just east of a cell-phone tower. Its cemetery 

was the burial site of the Alexander Mebane I family. Sometime during the 1800s, farmer A. Wilson 

removed all gravestones and plowed over the graveyard. He was prosecuted (Mebane 1999, 117). The new 

cemetery is across from the present-day church built during 1852ï1854. It is the burial site of 4th great-

grandparents James Anderson and his wife Martha Jane Murray. In 2008, James Andersonôs gravestone 

was attached to a granite base. Their daughter Margaret Anderson and her husband John Scott were buried 

in this cemetery. William Allen, son of Elizabeth Anderson and George Allen, and his wife Letitia Tate 

were buried in this cemetery. William Allen was a 1st cousin 6 generations removed. Mary J. Dixon, 

2nd cousin 4 generations removed and her husband James Umstead Thompson were buried here. 
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Hawfields Presbyterian Church 

Original-site marker and present-day site. Mebane, North Carolina. 

Cross Roads Presbyterian began in 1783. Anderson, Roney, Aldridge families attended. Its cemetery is the 

burial site of the families of William Anderson, William James Anderson, James Anderson, and William 

Lee Anderson. These were 3rd great-grandfather through grandfather. 

    

Cross Roads Presbyterian Church 

James and Nannie Anderson stain-glass window 

Alamance County, North Carolina 

Sugar Creek Presbyterian began in 1755 in Anson County, later Mecklenburg County. Alexander family 

attended. At that site, the minister directed Sugar Creek Academy. Since the earliest years, its spelling and 

pronunciation has been like the ordinary word ñsugarò (Foote 1846, 189). In 1924, the churchôs official 

name was changed to Sugaw Creek Presbyterian Church. That spelling was thought to match the original 

Catawba Indian pronunciation of the nearby creek. (McGeachy 1954). 
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Sugaw Creek Presbyterian Church and Academy 

Long Creek Presbyterian began in 1780 in Lincoln County, later Gaston County. Espey, Oates, and Plonk 

families attended. The cemetery contains graves of Samuel Espey, William Oates II, Joseph Calvin Plonk 

and their families (Long Creek Presbyterian Church 1980). Espeyôs signature appears on James Hill 

Revolutionary War pension application (Hill, James, pension application 1832). 

  

Long Creek Presbyterian Church and Captain Samuel Espey grave marker 

Gaston County, North Carolina 

Bethel Presbyterian Church began in 1764 in Camden District, later New Acquisition District, and later 

York County, South Carolina. Moor and Patton families attended. 

http://revwarapps.org/w3815.pdf
http://revwarapps.org/w3815.pdf
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Bethel Presbyterian Church 

York County, South Carolina 

Saint Markôs Lutheran began in 1805 in Lincoln County, later Gaston County. Plonk and Rudisill families 

attended. 

 
St. Markôs Lutheran Church 

Gaston County, North Carolina 

Beginning September 1766, itinerant Anglican clergyman Charles Woodmason served an area within about 

40 miles of Camden. He was the first clergyman to preach in that area. Nonetheless, because he was 

Anglican, some Presbyterians insulted him and annoyed his attempts to hold services. He wrote a private 

journal. In a January 1767 entry, he described the Waxhaws as fine land, ñBut it is occupied by a Sett of the 

most lowest vilest Crew breathingðScotch Irish Presbyterians from the North of Irelandò (Woodmason 

1767, 14). In other journal entries, Woodmason described backcountry settlers in extremely derogatory 

terms: ñthe worst Vermin on Earth,ò ñThey delight in their present low, lazy, sluttish, heathenish, hellish 

Life,ò and ñthese People despise Knowledge éò (Woodmason 1767, 50,52). He accused Presbyterians of 

many tricks: hiring bums to harass him, intoxicating churchgoers before his sermons, bringing 57 fighting 

dogs to church, stealing the church-door key, terminating his job using a paper note stuck in the pulpit, 

refusing to sell him food, defaming him by giving his stolen night robe to a prostitute, and without notice, 

scheduling his appearance at remote sites (Woodmason 1767, 30,45,49). In this private journal, 

Woodmason had a habit of exaggeration, since most characters he describes were either fine persons or the 

worst possible. His entertaining writing style was probably modeled on Jonathan Swiftôs Gulliverôs 

Travels. Most likely, Woodmason saw redeeming qualities in backcountry people since for two years he 

traveled nearly 6000 miles on horseback to preach, perform communion, marry, and baptize. He even 

purchased land near Hanging Rock, South Carolina, and planned to retire among these people. 
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In the 1770s, iron ore was discovered in a deposit that extended from present-day Kings Mountain to 

eastern Lincoln County. Surface mining extracted iron ore that was used to make tools, household goods, 

and munitions. 

 
Ormand Iron Furnace, predates 1788 

Gaston County, North Carolina 

The Plonk-related Oates, Sloan, and Ramseur-related Forney families developed iron foundries. 

1754ɀ1763, French and Indian War  
During the spring of 1754, Virginians begin to build a trading post near French Fort Duquesne [pronounced 

DȊ-cane], present-day Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. In May 1754, 22-year old Captain George Washingtonôs 

unit of Virginia militiamen attacked a French diplomatic party, killing a French officer. Immediately 

afterwards, the French sent out a retaliatory force. At a place called the Meadows, Washington had his men 

build a rude fort, called Fort Necessity. The Americans were outnumbered. A heavy rain disabled all 

muskets. After Washington signed a surrender agreement, he and his men were allowed to return to 

Virginia. This event precipitated the French and Indian War, or the Seven Yearsô War as it was called in 

Europe. Britain fought France and Spain. In 1755, Britain sent Major General Edward Braddock into 

western Pennsylvania to capture Fort Duquesne. Pioneers cut a road through the wilderness to move 

artillery, equipment, and a four-mile baggage train. Over 200 women cooks, laundresses, and nurses 

accompanied the army. But on 9 July, French soldiers and their Indian allies ambushed the British. Many 

British were killed. Washington led a successful withdrawal. When Braddock died a few days later, his 

body was hidden under the road his men built earlier. 
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Major General Edward Braddock buried in road, 13 July 1755. 

Colonel George Washington reads from Book of Common Prayer. 

Engraving. Artist unknown. 

Captain Joseph Motley III , a Plonk-related 5th great-grandfather, was one of the Virginia soldiers under 

Washingtonôs command at Braddockôs defeat (Morehead in Hurt 1976, 98,218). 

Braddockôs defeat greatly emboldened Indian tribes aligned with France and spread terror among settlers 

on the frontier from New York to South Carolina. Delaware Indians in Pennsylvania and Shawnees in Ohio 

retaliated against settler encroachment. In Indian culture, a killed tribesman might necessitate a spiritual 

replacement, achieved by capturing an individual from the enemy and absorbing him or her into Indian life. 

A Plonk-related 5th great-grandmother Nancy Ann Means was born in 1717 in Ireland. Her mother may 

have died in childbirth. In the summer of 1718, her father and five children left Londonderry and arrived in 

Boston, Massachusetts, on 14 October 1718. By 1720, the family moved to Bucks County, Pennsylvania. 

About 1734, she married William Sloan in Bucks County. Their children were: John Sloan, born about 

1734; William Sloan, born about 1736; Robert Sloan, born 1738 in Franklin, Pennsylvania; and Jane [Jean] 

Sloan, born 7 October 1744. After William died in 1744, Nancy remarried John Wasson on 26 May 1744 in 

Bucks County. Their children were: John Wasson, born about 1745; Thomas Wasson, born 1745; Robert 

Means Wasson, born about 1746, James Wasson, born 1746, and Elizabeth Wasson, born 1747. 

On 26 May 1756 in central Pennsylvania, Nancy Meansô second husband John Wasson was killed and she 

was taken hostage. Descendant Walter Reed Sloan, 1888ï1974, wrote the following: 

The story of Ann Wasson is not one of youth and romance as has been portrayed of other 

Indian captives, but that of suffering and privation. The story of a noble pioneer woman 

who was willing to risk all that this country should be developed for her children. In the 

spring of 1756 we find Ann Wasson living with her second husband, John Wasson, and 

seven children-John, William, Robert and Jane Sloan, issue with her first husband, 

William Sloan, and Thomas, James and Elizabeth Wasson, issue with her second 

husband, John Wasson on a plantation of 450 acres in Peters Township. Cumberland 

(now Franklin) County. The times were exceedingly dangerous. Since Braddock's defeat 

the previous fall the Indians had been terrorizing this whole section. Many settlers had 

lost their lives and many been captured. Rev. John Steele's meeting house had been 

turned into a fort, which was a place of refuge for the women and children of the 

neighborhood, as well as a stronghold when attacked by the Indians. On April 5, 1756, 

Fort McCord, just a few miles away, had fallen with the loss of many lives. Seedtime was 
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at hand. John Wasson was busy tilling his land On May 26, 1756, Ann Wasson leaving 

her seven children at Fort Steele, had gone to their plantation, risking her life that she 

may be at the side of her husband. Without warning they were attacked by the Indians. 

John Wasson was horribly mangled and scalped. Ann Wasson was taken captive. (Sloan 

1930) 

Soon after the event, the Pennsylvania Gazette reported: 

On Wednesday 26th May 1756, They [the Indians] came to the Plantation of John 

Wasson in Peters Township, Cumberland County, whom they killed and mangled in so 

horrible and cruel manner, that a regard to decency forbids describing it, and afterwards 

burned his house and carried off his wife. A party of Steeleôs and Petersô men went out 

after the enemy, but to no purpose. (Pennsylvania Gazette 1756, 108). 

After the Indian raid, authorities were notified. John Potter, Sheriff of Cumberland County, learning from 

the older children of an uncle, a brother of Nancy Means, living in Newton, Bucks County, Pennsylvania, 

notified him as follows: 

Mr. Robert Means- 

These are to certify to you, your brother [in-law], John Wasson, last Wednesday was 

barbarously killed by the Indians and his wife carried captive, and as the time is so 

exceedingly dangerous in these parts and no relatives of the orphans here to take care of 

them, the children desires to go to you; and all things considered, it appears to us most 

advisable; and with them we send you an account of his estate as it is now situate, his 

crops in the ground, the young lads can tell you best. His debts appears to be near fifty 

pounds, and if you incline to administer, send word to come up with the young lads 

yourself, you being the highest relative. This 29th of May 1756. 

John Potter 

Will Maxwell  

Hez Alexander 

William Dunwoddy 

Moses Thomson (Corbett 1997) 

One of these officials was Hezekiah Alexander who later in 1767 migrated to Mecklenburg County, North 

Carolina, and became a justice of the peace. He was a McGuire-related 2nd cousin 7 generations removed. 

Nancy Ann Means was held for 3.5 years, possibly near Assinisink, in the southern part of New York, by 

Ekoan, a Munsee chief because in the fall of 1759, Delaware Indian Chief Teedyuscung [pronounced TǛ-

dǛ-us-kung] demanded from Ekoan the release of thirteen pioneer prisoners, but only received two elderly 

white women and two boys. (A. F. Wallace 1949, 211ï212) 

On 27 November 1759 at Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, Teedyuscung and his party was given the following 

pass by Timothy Horsfield: 

These are to request all his Majesty's liege people to suffer the bearer, King Teedyuscung 

& Daniel, with seven other Indians, men & women having with them four white captives. 

\'iz. two women & 2 boys to pass unmolested to Philada. their business being to deliver 

the said captives to his honour the Governor. Given under my hand & seal at Bethlehem 

on the 27th Nov., 1759. Timo. Horsfield. (Pennsylvania State Archives n.d., 3:692) 

On 1 December 1759, Pennsylvania Lieutenant Governor James Hamilton received Nancy Means and the 

three other hostages. The official record was: 
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Names of 4 prisoners delivered by Teedyuscung to Gov. 1st Dec.1759 

Memorandum of Ann Wasson She was taken ill the year 1756 in the beginning of May, 

at Caghnehseheeky in Cumberland County her husband John Wasson was then killed and 

scalped. She left seven children about two miles off, and she hopes they are alive some 

where. She is unable to support herself. She has two brothers some where in Chester or 

Bucks County. Memorandum of Maria Wagoner She was taken in the year 1757 in 

September and her husband was then killed and scalped his name was Conrad Wagoner 

they lived on Scarboro in Lancaster County, she has no children. Peter Newfang, a lad of 

about 11 or 12 years of age was taken in the year 1756 in May on the other side of the 

mountains, his mother was then killed. He can't talk a word of German. His father, 

Balhaser Newfang, is a private soldier in Battalion of Penna. Regiment. (original at 

Pennsylvania State Library, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania) 

On 4 December, Hamilton officially thanked Teedyuscung: 

Brother: The sight of our flesh and blood, after a tedious captivity gives us great pleasure, 

and I thank you for the return of the four prisoners, and expect you will continue to do 

your utmost that all be returned to us as soon as possible. (Gave a string of Wampum.) 

Brother: You have acted a just part in bringing the six horses that have been stolen from 

the poor people on the borders by some of your unthinking young men. 

(Pennsylvania State Archives n.d., 4:6) 

On 7 December, Hamilton addressed the Pennsylvania Assembly: 

There are two Indian messengers in town from the Ohio, who, with Teedyuscung, to 

whom they were recommended to be conducted here, have been assisting in a council of 

Indians held at Atsintsing, an Indian town, situate on the Cayuga Branch of the 

Sasquehannah. Teedynscung, having delivered to me four prisoners, two elderly women 

and two boys, who are quite naked and destitute, I recommend it to you to enable me to 

make some provision for them, and likewise to send these messengers away well pleased 

with their reception, being of opinion with Teedyuscung, that it will be of great service, at 

this time, to engage the friendship of the nation to whom they belong. 

(Pennsylvania State Archives n.d., 3:12) 

On 8 December, Isaac Norris, Speaker of the House, arranged for provisions for the four prisoners and 

addressed Hamilton: 

We have recommended the other parts of your Honor's message to the commissioners 

who will make a suitable provision for the prisoners now delivered, and also to take care 

that the messengers from the Ohio shall depart well satisfied with their reception. 

Amongst us signed by the Order of the House December 8, 1759 Isaac Norris Speaker. 

(Votes of Assembly, Vol. 5, December 8, 1759) 

Nancy Means may have remained a ward of the Province of Pennsylvania for about a year (Sloan 1930). 

Further research by descendent Paul Corbett has provided: 

Just when and where Ann Wasson was united with her children is not known. On 

April  22, 1762, letters of administration were issued at Carlisle on the estate of John 

Wasson, with Ann Wasson and William Sloan, her eldest son, as administrators in the 

settlement of this estate it was brought out that John Wasson "had received all and 

singular the personal estate of William Sloan", Ann Wassonôs first husband. As this sum 

was now due the Sloan children. William Allison, John Holiday, William Maxwell and 

James Potter asked to act as arbitrators. On May 26, 1762, they made settlement with the 

consent of all parties. This settlement was confirmed at an Orphan's Court held at 

Shippensburg on the 8th day of March 1763. (Corbett 1997) 
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In 1769, Nancy was a member of the congregation of Doctor John Kingôs Presbyterian Church in 

Mercersburg, Pennsylvania (Sloan 1930). The last known evidence of her eventful life was on 30 October 

1772 when her son Thomas entered a caveat on a survey of the Wasson family farm on behalf of himself, 

his mother, his brother and sister (Sloan 1930). Presumably, she was buried in Mercersburg, Pennsylvania. 

Other sources include: (Wasson n.d.) (Finafrock 1942, 25) (Pennsylvania State Archives n.d., 5:6:276, 289, 

297, 299, 305, 315) (Albert n.d., 609). Also: 

In November 1951, while digging a ditch along the South Penn railroad on his farm, one 

and a half miles northwest of Williamson, Pennsylvania, Elmer C. Myers uncovered the 

skeleton of a man, believed to be that of John Wasson. Dr. William E. B. Hall, 

Chambersburg Hospital pathologist, who examined the remains immediately after they 

were found, reported that the man was brutally attacked with both a tomahawk and war 

clubs. Marks on the skull and other indications pointed to a violent death; ribs were 

fractured by blows to the body, and one of the skeletonôs arms was broken by twisting. 

The discovery of the skeleton prompted research into the life of John Wasson and it was 

learned that he had taken up residence on the farm in Peters Township during the period 

of the French and Indian Wars. The farm was located only a few miles from the Rev. 

John Steeleô s church at Church Hill, near the present village of Lemasters. (Corbett 

1997) 

We descend from Nancy Meansô daughter Jane Sloan, 1744ï1819, from her first marriage to William Sloan 

who died before 1744. About 1765, Jane married William Oates, 1734ï1818, and about 1778, moved to 

Lincoln County, North Carolina. 

Iroquois Indians aligned with Britain and attempted to strengthen their nation at the expense of other tribes. 

But except for the Mohawks, their support was weak after British defeats. In 1756, the French, under 

General Louis-Joseph de Montcalm, captured Fort Oswego. In August 1757, he captured Fort William 

Henry and renamed it Fort Ticonderoga. On 8 July 1758, Britain lost 2000 soldiers in a failed attack on Fort 

Ticonderoga. Three years of dreadful British defeats forced a new government. William Pitt who achieved 

effective control of Parliament began massive military spending. He partly justified policies as benefiting 

the world by spreading the ideals of British Liberty and constitutional government. 

 
William Pitt, Member of Parliament 

Painted by William Hoare, 1756. 
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In 1759, Britain war success exceeded all expectations. On 18 September, at Quebec City, Major General 

James Wolfe drove French soldiers from Canada. Many other victories occurred around the world. The 

year 1759 became known as ñannus mirabilis,ò year of miracles. Incidentally, Queen Elizabeth II used the 

opposite expression ñannus horribilis,ò when she described 1992. 

In this hopeful time, George III , at age 23, became king when his grandfather George II died on 25 October 

1760. Both he and his recently married Queen Charlotte were coronated on 22 September 1761. A golden 

gilded carriage built for his coronation is used today by the monarch to open Parliament and other state 

ceremonies. 

 
King George III  

Painted by Allan Ramsay, about 1761. 

War reached South Carolina in January 1760, when Cherokees, urged by the French, attacked backcountry 

settlements, killing and mutilating adults and scalping children. South Carolina House of Commons set 

bounties on Cherokee scalps. The 10 November 1763 Treaty of Augusta pushed the Cherokee boundary 

westward. 

At warôs end in 1763, Spanish Florida became a British possession. In an attempt to resolve the Indian land 

problem, George III announced the Proclamation of 1763. It prohibited further settlement west of the 

Alleghenies. 

Ironically, Britainôs success undermined its influence among North Americans. The departure of French 

and Spanish soldiers made North Americans less dependent on Britainôs military protection. Indians that 

aligned with France were marginalized. The younger generation who wanted to acquire large farms 

resented the restrictive Proclamation of 1763. Military experiences of young Americans, like George 

Washington, provided a cadre of trained officers. The warôs heavy debt forced Britain to search for ways to 

raise revenue by taxing colonists. 
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Major Robert Rogers, 1731ï1795, of Scotch-Irish descent, from Massachusetts, distinguished himself 

during this war as the commander of Rogersô Rangers. In 1759, he wrote the following Rules of Ranging: 

1. All Rangers are to be subject to the rules and articles of war; to appear at roll-

call every evening, on their own parade, equipped, each with a Firelock, sixty 

rounds of powder and ball, and a hatchet, at which time an officer from each 

company is to inspect the same, to see they are in order, so as to be ready on any 

emergency to march at a minuteôs warning; and before they are dismissed, the 

necessary guards are to be draughted, and scouts for the next day appointed. 

2. Whenever you are ordered out to the enemies forts or frontiers for discoveries, if 

your number be small, march in a single file, keeping at such a distance from 

each other as to prevent one shot from killing two men, sending one man, or 

more, forward, and the like on each side, at the distance of twenty yards from 

the main body, if the ground you march over will admit of it, to give the signal 

to the officer of the approach of an enemy, and of their number, &c. 

3. If  you march over marshes or soft ground, change your position, and march 

abreast of each other to prevent the enemy from tracking you (as they would do 

if you marched in a single file) till you get over such ground, and then resume 

your former order, and march till it is quite dark before you encamp, which do, 

if possible, on a piece of ground which that may afford your sentries the 

advantage of seeing or hearing the enemy some considerable distance, keeping 

one half of your whole party awake alternately through the night. 

4. Sometime before you come to the place you would reconnoiter, make a stand, 

and send one or two men in whom you can confide, to look out the best ground 

for making your observations. 

5. If you have the good fortune to take any prisoners, keep them separate, till they 

are examined, and in your return take a different route from that in which you 

went out, that you may the better discover any party in your rear, and have an 

opportunity, if their strength be superior to yours, to alter your course, or 

disperse, as circumstances may require. 

6. If you march in a large body of three or four hundred, with a design to attack the 

enemy, divide your party into three columns, each headed by a proper officer, 

and let those columns march in single files, the columns to the right and left 

keeping at twenty yards distance or more from that of the center, if the ground 

will admit, and let proper guards be kept in the front and rear, and suitable 

flanking parties at a due distance as before directed, with orders to halt on all 

eminences, to take a view of the surrounding ground, to prevent your being 

ambuscaded, and to notify the approach or retreat of the enemy, that proper 

dispositions may be made for attacking, defending, &c. And if the enemy 

approach in your front on level ground, form a front of your three columns or 

main body with the advanced guard, keeping out your flanking parties, as if you 

were marching under the command of trusty officers, to prevent the enemy from 

pressing hard on either of your wings, or surrounding you, which is the usual 

method of the savages, if their number will admit of it, and be careful likewise 

to support and strengthen your rear-guard. 

7. If you are obliged to receive the enemyôs fire, fall, or squat down, till it is over; 
then rise and discharge at them. If their main body is equal to yours, extend 

yourselves occasionally; but if superior, be careful to support and strengthen 

your flanking parties, to make them equal to theirs, that if possible you may 

repulse them to their main body, in which case push upon them with the greatest 

resolution with equal force in each flank and in the center, observing to keep at a 
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due distance from each other, and advance from tree to tree, with one half of the 

party before the other ten or twelve yards. If the enemy push upon you, let your 

front fire and fall down, and then let your rear advance through them and do the 

like, by which time those who before were in front will be ready to discharge 

again, and repeat the same alternately, as occasion shall require; by this means 

you will keep up such a constant fire, that the enemy will not be able easily to 

break your order, or gain your ground. 

8. If you oblige the enemy to retreat, be careful, in your pursuit of them, to keep 

out your flanking parties, and prevent them from gaining eminences, or rising 

grounds, in which case they would perhaps be able to rally and repulse you in 

their turn. 

9. If you are obliged to retreat, let the front of your whole party fire and fall back, 

till the rear hath done the same, making for the best ground you can; by this 

means you will oblige the enemy to pursue you, if they do it at all, in the face of 

a constant fire. 

10. If the enemy is so superior that you are in danger of being surrounded by them, 

let the whole body disperse, and every one take a different road to the place of 

rendezvous appointed for that evening, which must every morning be altered 

and fixed for the evening ensuing, in order to bring the whole party, or as many 

of them as possible, together, after any separation that may happen in the day; 

but if you should happen to be actually surrounded, form yourselves into a 

square, or if in the woods, a circle is best, and, if possible, make a stand till the 

darkness of the night favors your escape. 

11. If your rear is attacked, the main body and flankers must face about to the right 

or left, as occasion shall require, and form themselves to oppose the enemy, as 

before directed; and the same method must be observed, if attacked in either of 

your flanks, by which means you will always make a rear of one of your flank-

guards. 

12. If you determine to rally after a retreat, in order to make a fresh stand against the 

enemy, by all means endeavor to do it on the most rising ground you come at, 

which will give you greatly the advantage in point of situation, and enable you 

to repulse superior numbers. 

13. In general, when pushed upon by the enemy, reserve your fire till they approach 

very near, which will then put them into the greatest surprise and consternation, 

and give you an opportunity of rushing upon them with your hatchets and 

cutlasses to the better advantage. 

14. When you encamp at night, fix your sentries in such a manner as not to be 

relieved from the main body till morning, profound secrecy and silence being 

often of the last importance in these cases. Each sentry therefore should consist 

of six men, two of whom must be constantly alert, and when relieved by their 

fellows, it should be done without noise; and in case those on duty see or hear 

anything, which alarms them, they are not to speak, but one of them is silently to 

retreat, and acquaint the commanding officer thereof, that proper dispositions 

may be made; and all occasional sentries should be fixed in like manner. 

15. At the first dawn of day, awake your whole detachment; that being the time 

when the savages choose to fall upon their enemies, you should by all means be 

in readiness to receive them. 
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16. If the enemy should be discovered by your detachments in the morning, and 

their numbers are superior to yours, and a victory doubtful, you should not 

attack them till the evening, as then they will not know your numbers, and if you 

are repulsed, your retreat will be favored by the darkness of the night. 

17. Before you leave your encampment, send out small parties to scout round it, to 

see if there be any appearance or track of an enemy that might have been near 

you during the night. 

18. When you stop for refreshment, choose some spring or rivulet if you can, and 

dispose your party so as not to be surprised, posting proper guards and sentries 

at a due distance, and let a small party waylay the path you came in, lest the 

enemy should be pursuing. 

19. If, in your return, you have to cross rivers, avoid the usual fords as much as 

possible, lest the enemy should have discovered, and be there expecting you. 

20. If  you have to pass by lakes, keep at some distance from the edge of the water, 

lest, in case of an ambuscade or an attack from the enemy, when in that 

situation, your retreat should be cut off. 

21. If the enemy pursue your rear, take a circle till you come to your own tracks, and 

there form an ambush to receive them, and give them the first fire. 

22. When you return from a scout, and come near our forts, avoid the usual roads, 

and avenues thereto, lest the enemy should have headed you, and lay in ambush 

to receive you, when almost exhausted with fatigues. 

23. When you pursue any party that has been near our forts or encampments, follow 

not directly in their tracks, lest they should be discovered by their rear guards, 

who, at such a time, would be most alert; but endeavor, by a different route, to 

head and meet them in some narrow pass, or lay in ambush to receive them 

when and where they least expect it. 

24. If you are to embark in canoes, battoes, or otherwise, by water, choose the 

evening for the time of your embarkation, as you will then have the whole night 

before you, to pass undiscovered by any parties of the enemy, on hills, or other 

places, which command a prospect of the lake or river you are upon. 

25. In paddling or rowing, give orders that the boat or canoe next the sternmost, wait 

for her, and the third for the second, and the fourth for the third, and so on, to 

prevent separation, and that you may be ready to assist each other on any 

emergency. 

26. Appoint one man in each boat to look out for fires, on the adjacent shores, from 

the numbers and size of which you may form some judgment of the number that 

kindled them, and whether you are able to attack them or not. 

27. If you find the enemy encamped near the banks of a river or lake, which you 

imagine they will attempt to cross for their security upon being attacked, leave a 

detachment of your party on the opposite shore to receive them, while, with the 

remainder, you surprise them, having them between you and the lake or river. 

28. If you cannot satisfy yourself as to the enemyôs number and strength, from their 

fire, &c. conceal your boats at some distance, and ascertain their number by a 

reconnoitering party, when they embark, or march, in the morning, marking the 

course they steer, &c. when you may pursue, ambush, and attack them, or let 
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them pass, as prudence shall direct you. In general, however, that you may not 

be discovered by the enemy upon the lakes and rivers at a great distance, it is 

safest to lay by, with your boats and party concealed all day, without noise or 

shew; and to pursue your intended route by night; and whether you go by land or 

water, give out parole and countersigns, in order to know one another in the 

dark, and likewise appoint a station every man to repair to, in case of any 

accident that may separate you. 

The French and Indian War affected most lives in North America. The following table lists family relations 

with known military service or impact. 

French and Indian War Impact 

Name Relation Service and Notes 

Joseph Motley III  5GGFather Captain, George Washingtonôs Virginia militia, 

Braddockôs Defeat 

Nancy Means 5GGMother Abducted by Indians for 3 years. 

Hezekiah Alexander 2nd cousin 

7x removed 

Forced to abandon home in western 

Pennsylvania. 

 

1763ɀ1770, Mecklenburg and Tryon Counties  
Large concentrations of Scotch-Irish settled in part of Anson Country that became Mecklenburg County. 

One community positioned itself on a hilltop ridge between two parallel creeks, later named Irwin Creek 

and Little Sugar Creek. The latter was named for Sugaree Indians, a subtribe of the Catawba Indians. The 

road to Anson County courthouse was called Lawyers Road. The North Carolina General Assembly 

authorized the new Mecklenburg County on 11 December 1762. It became effective 1 February 1763 (J. H. 

Williams 2010ï2017). Thomas Polk promoted this community as the new county seat. A courthouse and 

jail was quickly constructed. The name Charlotte referred to Princess Charlotte Sophia, from Mecklenburg-

Strelitz [pronounced StrǕy-lits], a German principality. Recently, in 1761, she married King George III and 

became Queen. Their youth and recent coronation made them popular. The name Charlotte was thought to 

be ñpretty and euphonious.ò No doubt the names Mecklenburg and Charlotte were well received by the 

colonial government which approved the county and town establishment. 
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Queen Charlotte, Age 17 

The History of Vandalia, volume 3, plate after page 52, Thomas Nugent, London, 1766ï1773. 

 
Queen Charlotte Walks in Her Garden 

Sculpted by Graham Weathers, 1988. 

Land disputes occurred throughout the backcountry. On 6 March 1765 in Mecklenburg County, a severe 

riot resulted in injuries. It became known as the Sugar Creek War. (L. Blackwelder 2005). The altercation 

may have occurred on the headwaters of McMullen Creek near present-day Sharon Memorial Park. 
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On 22 May 1767, North Carolina colonial governor William Tryon passed through Charlotte on the way to 

negotiate a boundary treaty with Cherokee chief Judôs Friend on the Tyger River in South Carolina (NCCR 

1886, VII:991ï1008) (C. G. Davidson 1951, 22). 

Lieutenant Colonel Moses Alexander, a McGuire-related 5th great-granduncle, commanded the 

Mecklenburg County militia. He and some of his men accompanied Governor Tryon (Preyer 1987, 54). 

Also, Lieutenant William Lee Davidson from Rowan County militia participated. Later that year, on 

10 December 1767, he married Mary Brevard, a McGuire-related 5th cousin 4 generations removed (C. G. 

Davidson 1951, 22). Thomas Polk may have participated (J. H. Williams 2010ï2017). 

On 7 November 1768, Charlotte was chartered after Lord George August Selwyn sold 360 acres to trustees 

Abraham Alexander, Thomas Polk, and John Frohook. This property was divided into half-acre lots for 

homes. In August 1769, when colonial governor William Tryon visited Charlotte, the main north-south 

road was named Tryon Street. It runs along the ridgeline separating the watersheds of Little Sugar Creek 

and Big Sugar Creek. It has always been Charlotteôs principal axis. The perpendicular Indian trading path 

was named Trade Street. The original log courthouse was in the intersection of Tryon and Trade Streets. Its 

ground floor was a community market place. In 1774, a more permanent courthouse replaced it. 

In January 1771, Thomas Polk, Matthew Locke, Griffith Rutherford, and others were appointed by the 

North Carolina General Assembly to define the boundary line between Mecklenburg and Rowan Counties 

so that those living in the area were certain of where they owed taxes. Later, these men became important 

leaders. (North Carolina General Assembly 1770ï1771, 23:787ï849). Polk was elected and served in the 

General Assembly in 1766ï1768, 1769, 1770, 1771, 1773 and 1774 (J. H. Williams 2010ï2017). Sessions 

were typically two months of each year. 

A college in the backcountry was the inspiration of two educated and capable individuals: Hezekiah 

Alexander and Waightstill Avery. Colonial North Carolina Governor Josiah Martin supported an 

application for a charter from the government in London. In 1771, the North Carolina General Assembly 

chartered Queens College in Charlotte. 

Whereas the proper education of Youth has always been considered as the most certain 

source of tranquility, happiness and improvement both of private families and of States 

and Empires é the rising generation may repair, after having acquired at a Grammar 

School a competent knowledge of the Greek, Hebrew and Latin Languages é to obtain 

é a regular and finished education é and whereas several Grammar schools have been 

long taught in the western parts of this Government é Be it enacted é founding 

establishing and endowing Queenôs College in Charlotte Town é (J. H. Williams 2010ï

2017) 

The application stated that the college president must be Anglican, but the 3 or less teachers need not be. 

On 28 June 1773, the British government denied the charter, fearing the college would encourage 

Presbyterian dissention (NCCR 1886, IX:665). The decision was unworkable since no Anglican teachers 

were available. Nonetheless, as the only school available, it continued operation under the name Queens 

Museum. It was constructed south of the courthouse at the present-day southeast corner of Tryon and Third 

Street, now occupied by Two Wells Fargo Center building. It was the first college south of the College of 

William & Mary in Virginia. Doctor Ephraim Brevard taught science and medicine. In 1776, it was 

renamed Liberty Hall Academy. It had approximately 80 students. (Preyer 1987, 70ï72). 
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Opposite sides of Liberty Hall Monument 

Trustees listed include Isaac Alexander, Thomas Polk, Abraham Alexander, 

Ephraim Brevard, and John McKnitt Alexander. 

Liberty Hall Chapter, Daughters of the American Revolution monument, 1913. 

Abraham Alexander and John McKnitt Alexander were McGuire-related 2nd cousins 7 generations 

removed. Ephraim Brevard was a McGuire-related 5th cousin 4 generations removed. Thomas Polk was 

7th great-granduncle of Arabelle Boyer. 

A statue that represents Hezekiah Alexander, whose actual appearance is unknown, stands on the grounds 

of the Charlotte Museum of History. 

 
Backcountry Patriot 

Representation of Hezekiah Alexander 

Sculpted by David Dowdy, 2001. 

On 10 April 1769, Tryon County was formed from Mecklenburg County, separated by the Catawba River. 

Life on the frontier was rough. In 1910, historian Alfred Nixon wrote: 
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At July Term, 1770, ñThomas Camel came into court and proved that the lower part of 

his ear was bit off in a fight with Steven Jones, and was not taken off by sentence of law; 

certified by whom it may concern.ò At a later term, ñJames Kelly comes into open Court 

of his own free will and in the presence of said court did acknowledge that in a quarrel 

between him and a certain Leonard Sailor on the evening of the 2nd day of June, 1773, he 

did bite off the upper part of the left ear of him, the said Leonard Sailor, who prays that 

the same be recorded in the minutes of the said court.ò This confession gave James Kelly 

such standing in the esteem of his Majestyôs Justices that at the same term it was ñordered 

by the Court that James Kelly serve as constable in the room [instead] of George Trout 

and that he swear in before Thomas Espy, Esq.ò (Nixon 1910). 

Justice Thomas Espey was a Plonk-related 5th great-grandfather. 

1768ɀ1771, Regulator Rebellion  
During the 1760s, abusive Granville officials charged exorbitant fees for land transactions. 

 
John Carteret, Lord Granville 

Painted by William Hoare, circa 1750. 

Powerful colonial Assemblymen colluded with them. In reaction, some backcountry settlers planned to 

ñregulateò their own affairs. In 1768, they organized a Regulator Association. Its written agreement states, 

ñAn officer is a servant of the publick, and we are determined to have the officers of this county under a 

better and honester regulation than any have been for some time.ò (Hatch 1969, 3). They attempted to work 

within the government by electing new Assembly representatives, but Governor Tryon frustrated corrective 

reform. Soon all officials associated with the Assembly, including appointed justices of the peace, were 

suspect. In addition, backcountry men resented a special tax to construct a lavish governorôs palace in New 

Bern. 
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Tryon Palace, New Bern, North Carolina 

reconstructed and reopened in 1959 

On 22 September 1770, rioters interrupted a Hillsborough trial and whipped several justices of the peace. 

Orange County justice of the peace Michael Holt II , an Anderson-related 5th great-granduncle, was 

whipped (Troxler and Vincent 1999, 74). 

This rebellion led to Battle of Alamance on 16 May 1771. Governor Tryon was present and read the Riot 

Act, a 1715 British law that formally notified insurgents to disperse within one hour or be fired on. 

 
North Carolina Governor William Tryon demanded authority over Regulators 

engraving, artist unknown 

Tryon also demanded that Regulators turn over their leaders for arrest. After a full day of negotiations, 

Tryon personally killed one Regulator negotiator, Robert Thompson. A general engagement followed. 

Regulators were dispersed. What started as a legitimate grievance against venal officials ended with several 

deaths. On 9 June, Tryon overreacted by hanging six Regulator leaders in Hillsborough (Dula 1979, 16). 

Some Regulators escaped over the mountains to western North Carolina, present-day Tennessee. 

Resentment made the Piedmont a region of rebellion. Three months later, Tryon became New York 

Governor. The new North Carolina Governor, Josiah Martin, tried to reconcile differences. Five years later, 

many Regulators were leaders on both sides of the Revolutionary War. Of 883 known Regulators, 289 

became Whigs, 34 became Tories, and 560 are unknown (B. P. Robinson 1963, 64). 

John Tinnin, an Anderson-related 6th great-granduncle, supplied the Governorôs forces with a wagon and 4 

horses (Conolly 2008). 
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After the Regulator Rebellion, many Orange County citizens petitioned Governor Josiah Martin to pardon 

Regulator John Fruit. Presumably, the signers were anti-Regulators. They included: William Anderson, 

Alexander Mebane I, Alexander Mebane II, James Mebane, Andrew Mebane, Robert Mebane, David 

Mitchell, George Allen, William Armstrong, and Richard Bird. All of these were Anderson-related. (NCSR 

1895, IX:93ï94) 

Adam Alexander, a McGuire-related 3rd cousin 6 generations removed, of Mecklenburg was a prominent 

anti-Regulator. He commanded a company under General Hugh Waddell in supporting Governor Tryon (J. 

B. Alexander 1902, 104). 

William ñBlack Billyò Alexander, a McGuire 3rd cousin 6 generations removed, was a fanatic Regulator. 

He led 9 fellow Rocky River Presbyterian Church members who painted their faces black and then 

intercepted wagons of gunpowder heading for General Waddell at Salisbury. They destroyed this 

gunpowder in a tremendous explosion. Because of this exploit, he got the nickname ñBlack Billy.ò (Hunter 

1877, 115). Later, during the Revolutionary War, he became a prominent patriot military leader. He was 

Arabelle Boyerôs 1st cousin 8 generations removed. 

The following table lists family relations with known Regulator Rebellion participation. Mebane 

information is from (Mebane 1999, 90ï94). 

Regulator Rebellion Participants 

Name Side Relation Activities and Notes 

William Mebane Reg 6GGUncle  

Alexander Mebane I Anti 6GGFather Colonel 

William Mebane Anti 5GGUncle Broken gun at Alamance 

Alexander Mebane II  Anti 5GGUncle Captain. Public debt for wagons. 

Michael Holt II  Anti 5GGUncle Justice of peace. Whipped. 

John Tinnin Anti 6GGUncle Provided wagon and 4 horses 

Abraham Alexander Anti 2nd cousin 

7x removed 

 

Moses Alexander Anti 5GGUncle Colonel. Commanded Mecklenburg 

County militia. 

Hezekiah Alexander Anti 2nd cousin 

7x removed 

 

Adam Alexander Anti 3rd cousin 

6x removed 

 

William ñBlack Billyò 

Alexander 

Reg 3rd cousin 

6x removed 

Blew up gunpowder wagons. 

 

Interestingly, Hermon Husband, one the Regulator leaders fled to western Pennsylvania where his name 

reappeared in 1794 as a rebel during the Whiskey Rebellion. He was tried for treason and sentenced to 

death, but pardoned by President Washington. 

Concurrently, South Carolina had a backcountry Regulator movement, but it was independent and did not 

share leadership with Regulators in North Carolina. It was a law-and-order reaction to widespread 

lawlessness during 1767ï1768. The South Carolina colonial government was ineffective in providing 

security. So, using vigilante methods, backcountry settlers took control and drove criminals away. 

Afterwards, these Regulators overreacted against all perceived ñlower sorts.ò 

Neither North Carolina nor South Carolina Regulator movement was about representation or independence, 

the issues that induced the Revolutionary War, 1775ï1783. Nonetheless, allegiance oaths and personal 

animosities did persist into the American Revolution. 
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About 1768, Richard Faucett, a Whitted-related 6th great-grandfather, migrated from Ulster, Ireland, to 

settle in Orange County, North Carolina. On 22 October 1768, he purchase land along Eno River that 

included the gristmill that became known as Faucettôs Mill (W. S. Price 1988, 8:2). The seller Isaac Lowe, 

a Quaker, wanted to move away because of the Regulator conflict. 

1770ɀ1775, Highlander Immigration  
During persecutions and clearances, Highlanders had good reason to emigrate to the relative freedom of 

America. They entered at Wilmington, North Carolina, and settled along the upper Cape Fear River, but 

downstream of the Piedmont. So ironically, Scotlandôs Lowlander descendants and Scotlandôs Highlanders 

exchanged relative elevations in the Carolinas. Both groups were Presbyterian. 

During 1770ï1775, Highlander emigrants included tacksmen, farm overseers whose status was 

immediately below clan chief. They reluctantly left Scotland because of economic necessity and intended 

to maintain strong ties with their homeland. Most families had long military traditions. Thus, they were 

naturally loyal to Britain. They certainly underestimated the dangerous place they entered. This group 

included Flora Macdonald and her husband Allan Macdonald. In 1774, they settled along Cheek Creek on 

present-day Loving Hill Road in Montgomery County, North Carolina. She and her husband were active 

loyalists during the American Revolution. For their stand, their property was confiscated and she went into 

hiding. Two sons died while serving in the British military. Eventually, she returned to Scotland, where she 

and her husband lived with relatives until their deaths in the early 1790s. She was a quixotic character and 

personification of the doomed Highlander (Celtic vestige) way of life. Her gravestone inscribes 

Doctor Samuel Johnsonôs epitaph, ñHer name will be mentioned in history, and if courage and fidelity be 

virtues, mentioned with honor.ò 

Flora Macdonald College in Red Springs, North Carolina, was named for her in 1914. In 1961, it was 

incorporated into Saint Andrews Presbyterian College in Laurinburg, North Carolina. Reference (MacLeod 

1995) contains details. 

 
Flora Macdonald College 

Red Springs, North Carolina 

Relatives Caroline Edith Roney, Caroline Mae Roney, and Ruth Plonk attended Flora Macdonald College. 

When Highland culture prohibitions were lifted in 1781, even Lowland Scots reacted by accepting kilt and 

bagpipe as cultural icons. A dance called Seann Triubhas (Kicking Off Old Trousers) was created to 

celebrate this event. 

Today, Seann Triubhas is used in Scottish dance competition. Daughters of Ray and Nancy Kimsey are 

champion Scottish dancers who compete across the United States and Canada. Megan Kimsey competes 

now. Her older sister Erin Kimsey competed in prior years. 
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1765ɀ1766, Stamp Act 
The Seven Yearsô War left Britain in deep debt. Consequently, it raised taxes. It felt that Americans should 

share these taxes since they benefited greatly from the warôs victory. 

On 22 March 1765, Parliament passed the Stamp Act, a fee tax on many legal documents. It was extremely 

unpopular in the colonies. After Secretary of State William Pitt managed its repeal on 18 March 1766, 

South Carolina erected a statue in Charlestown. Its inscription reads: 

In Grateful Memory of His services to His country in General And to America in 

particular, The Commons House of Assembly of South Carolina unanimously voted This 

Statue of The Right Hon. William Pitt, Esq. Who gloriously exerted himself In Defending 

the Freedom of America, The True Sons of England, By Promoting a Repeal of the 

Stamp Act in the year 1766. Time Will sooner Destroy This mark of their esteem Than 

Erase from their minds their just sense Of His Patriotic Virtue. 

The statue, less both arms, stands today. Charles Pratt, Lord Camden, also worked to repeal the Stamp Act. 

For him, the town Pine Tree Hill, South Carolina, was renamed Camden. 

In 1766, Corbintown, North Carolina, changed its name to Hillsborough, in recognition of Wills Hills, 

Lord Hillsborough, the head of British Board of Trade and soon afterwards, Secretary of State for the 

Colonies. 

1775ɀ1783, American Revolution  
Conditions that induced the American Revolution developed over many years. Beginning 7 September 

1774, the First Continental Congress convened in Philadelphia to deliberate relations with Great Britain. 

Based on the recommendation of this Congress, Mecklenburg County formed a Committee of Public 

Safety. Thomas Polk and Hezekiah Alexander were elected members (Preyer 1987, 94). Reconciliation was 

the first objective. In England, William Pitt attempted reconciliation. On 20 January 1775, Pitt, while sick, 

pleaded in the House of Lords, 

I contend not for indulgence, but justice to America. é Let the sacredness of their 

property remain inviolate; let it be taxable only by their own consent, given in their 

provincial assemblies, else it will cease to be property. é [American] resistance to your 

acts was necessary as it was just; and your vain declarations of the omnipotence of 

Parliament, and your imperious doctrines of the necessity of submission, will be found 

equally impotent to convince, or to enslave your fellow-subjects in America. é Look at 

the papers transmitted [to] us from American; when you consider their decency, firmness, 

and wisdom, you cannot but respect their cause, and wish to make it your own. é For 

solidity of reasoning é and wisdom of conclusion é no nation, or body of men, can 

stand in preference to the general Congress at Philadelphia. I trust it is obvious to your 

Lordships that all attempts to impose servitude upon such men, to establish despotism 

over such a mighty continental nation, must be in vain, must be fatal. We shall be forced 

ultimately to retract; let us retract when we can, not when we must. 

This exhausting speech caused Pitt to collapse (Beloff 1960, 189ï190,194). 

On 23 March 1775, Delegate Patrick Henry anticipated an irreconcilable conflict with Britain. He spoke 

before the Second Viriginia Convention which was meeting at St. Johns Church in Richmond: 

MR. PRESIDENT: No man thinks more highly than I do of the patriotism, as well as 

abilities, of the very worthy gentlemen who have just addressed the House. But different 

men often see the same subject in different lights; and, therefore, I hope it will not be 

thought disrespectful to those gentlemen if, entertaining as I do, opinions of a character 

very opposite to theirs, I shall speak forth my sentiments freely, and without reserve. This 

is no time for ceremony. The question before the House is one of awful moment to this 

country. For my own part, I consider it as nothing less than a question of freedom or 
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slavery; and in proportion to the magnitude of the subject ought to be the freedom of the 

debate. It is only in this way that we can hope to arrive at truth, and fulfil the great 

responsibility which we hold to God and our country. Should I keep back my opinions at 

such a time, through fear of giving offence, I should consider myself as guilty of treason 

towards my country, and of an act of disloyalty toward the majesty of heaven, which I 

revere above all earthly kings. 

Mr. President, it is natural to man to indulge in the illusions of hope. We are apt to shut 

our eyes against a painful truth, and listen to the song of that siren till she transforms us 

into beasts. Is this the part of wise men, engaged in a great and arduous struggle for 

liberty? Are we disposed to be of the number of those who, having eyes, see not, and, 

having ears, hear not, the things which so nearly concern their temporal salvation? For 

my part, whatever anguish of spirit it may cost, I am willing to know the whole truth; to 

know the worst, and to provide for it. 

I have but one lamp by which my feet are guided; and that is the lamp of experience. I 

know of no way of judging of the future but by the past. And judging by the past, I wish 

to know what there has been in the conduct of the British ministry for the last ten years, 

to justify those hopes with which gentlemen have been pleased to solace themselves, and 

the House? Is it that insidious smile with which our petition has been lately received? 

Trust it not, sir; it will prove a snare to your feet. Suffer not yourselves to be betrayed 

with a kiss. Ask yourselves how this gracious reception of our petition comports with 

these war-like preparations which cover our waters and darken our land. Are fleets and 

armies necessary to a work of love and reconciliation? Have we shown ourselves so 

unwilling to be reconciled, that force must be called in to win back our love? Let us not 

deceive ourselves, sir. These are the implements of war and subjugation; the last 

arguments to which kings resort. I ask, gentlemen, sir, what means this martial array, if 

its purpose be not to force us to submission? Can gentlemen assign any other possible 

motive for it? Has Great Britain any enemy, in this quarter of the world, to call for all this 

accumulation of navies and armies? No, sir, she has none. They are meant for us; they 

can be meant for no other. They are sent over to bind and rivet upon us those chains 

which the British ministry have been so long forging. And what have we to oppose to 

them? Shall we try argument? Sir, we have been trying that for the last ten years. Have 

we anything new to offer upon the subject? Nothing. We have held the subject up in 

every light of which it is capable; but it has been all in vain. Shall we resort to entreaty 

and humble supplication? What terms shall we find which have not been already 

exhausted? Let us not, I beseech you, sir, deceive ourselves. Sir, we have done everything 

that could be done, to avert the storm which is now coming on. We have petitioned; we 

have remonstrated; we have supplicated; we have prostrated ourselves before the throne, 

and have implored its interposition to arrest the tyrannical hands of the ministry and 

Parliament. Our petitions have been slighted; our remonstrances have produced 

additional violence and insult; our supplications have been disregarded; and we have 

been spurned, with contempt, from the foot of the throne. In vain, after these things, may 

we indulge the fond hope of peace and reconciliation. There is no longer any room for 

hope. If we wish to be free² if we mean to preserve inviolate those inestimable privileges 

for which we have been so long contending²if we mean not basely to abandon the noble 

struggle in which we have been so long engaged, and which we have pledged ourselves 

never to abandon until the glorious object of our contest shall be obtained, we must fight! 

I repeat it, sir, we must fight! An appeal to arms and to the God of Hosts is all that is left 

us! 

They tell us, sir, that we are weak; unable to cope with so formidable an adversary. But 

when shall we be stronger? Will it be the next week, or the next year? Will it be when we 

are totally disarmed, and when a British guard shall be stationed in every house? Shall we 

gather strength by irresolution and inaction? Shall we acquire the means of effectual 

resistance, by lying supinely on our backs, and hugging the delusive phantom of hope, 
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until our enemies shall have bound us hand and foot? Sir, we are not weak if we make a 

proper use of those means which the God of nature hath placed in our power. Three 

millions of people, armed in the holy cause of liberty, and in such a country as that which 

we possess, are invincible by any force which our enemy can send against us. Besides, 

sir, we shall not fight our battles alone. There is a just God who presides over the 

destinies of nations; and who will raise up friends to fight our battles for us. The battle, 

sir, is not to the strong alone; it is to the vigilant, the active, the brave. Besides, sir, we 

have no election. If we were base enough to desire it, it is now too late to retire from the 

contest. There is no retreat but in submission and slavery! Our chains are forged! Their 

clanking may be heard on the plains of Boston! The war is inevitable²and let it come! I 

repeat it, sir, let it come. 

It is in vain, sir, to extenuate the matter. Gentlemen may cry, Peace, Peace²but there is no 

peace. The war is actually begun! The next gale that sweeps from the north will bring to 

our ears the clash of resounding arms! Our brethren are already in the field! Why stand 

we here idle? What is it that gentlemen wish? What would they have? Is life so dear, or 

peace so sweet, as to be purchased at the price of chains and slavery? Forbid it, Almighty 

God! I know not what course others may take; but as for me, give me liberty or give me 

death! (Wirt 1817, 119ï123) 

The 19 April 1775 British raid on Lexington and Concord, Massachusetts outraged most Americans. The 

Second Continental Congress convened on 10 May 1775. It directed each state to contribute regiments of 

soldiers for the war effort. The army outside Boston was called The Army of Observation. 

It is convenient to separate American Revolutionary War into North and South because of the 1778 shift in 

Britainôs strategy. At first, Britain attempted to suppress rebellion in the North by controlling the Hudson 

River and thereby divide the colonies. But after that strategy resulted in a stalemate, Britain tried to 

reestablish loyalist governments in the South. 

Veteran Pension Applications  
On 7 June 1832, United States Congress passed a law awarding pensions to all living Revolutionary War 

veterans. Each applying veteran testified in court about his service, including details about time, place, 

battles, officers, units, commissions, and discharges. Collaborating witnesses testified. Excerpts from these 

applications appear throughout this document. 

1775, Scotch-Irish Sentiment, Mecklenburg Resolves  
Of all groups, Scotch-Irish were the strongest supporters of the American Revolution. In some respects, the 

war was a continuation of anti-government tension between Scotland and England. Even nicknames Whig 

and Tory transferred. Originally, Whig meant a Presbyterian guerrilla fighter, and Tory meant an Irish 

bandit, or worse, king supporter. However, American Whigs should not be confused with the British Whig 

Party, which ironically was the party in power at the time of the American Revolution. 

Many Scotch-Irish were former soldiers or at most two generations removed from conflicts in Ireland or 

Scotland. All landholders wanted legal protection for their property and also lower taxes. On 19ï20 May 

1775, a group of Mecklenburgôs most prominent residents allegedly met in Charlotte as a spontaneous 

reaction to news of the 19 April British attack on Lexington and Concord, Massachusetts. They are 

attributed with composing and signing the Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence and reading it in 

public. However, a declaration requires publication, yet there was no known contemporaneous newspaper 

article. Nonetheless, without question, 11 days later, some of the same signers met as the Mecklenburg 

Committee of Public Safety to write the Mecklenburg Resolves which was published in the 13 June 1775 

edition of Charlestownôs South Carolina Gazette and Country Journaland the 23 June 1775 edition of 

Wilmingtonôs Cape Fear Mercury. 
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Mecklenburg Resolves, righthand column, 

South Carolina Gazette and Country Journal, 13 June 1775 

The Mecklenburg Resolves established a temporary county government (Preyer 1987, 97ï98). It argued 

creatively that since the King of England had characterized colonies in a state of rebellion, then local 

officials were required to establish a new government that could protect lives and property. This legalism 

provided sufficient cover for those who had taken an oath of allegiance to the King. Minutes from the 19ï

20 May 1775 meeting were destroyed in a house fire on 6 April 1800, leaving no hard evidence. 

Controversy began in 1819 when Thomas Jefferson called the Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence 

ñspurious.ò The still-living signers defended its existence and were consistent on sequence of events. These 

signers were respected citizens. The controversy distracts from the incontrovertible fact that the 1775 

Mecklenburg citizens were extraordinary courageous and serious in effecting independence from Great 

Britain. References (Salley 1907), (Blythe and Brockmann 1961) and (Syfert 2013) contain details. 

Prominent among signers were several Mecklenburg County Alexanders, including Abraham Alexander, 

Ezra Alexander, Adam Alexander, Charles Alexander, and Hezekiah Alexander. Samuel Alexander, a 

3rd great-grandfather, was related to these Alexanders, but exactly how is a mystery. One family tradition is 

that his father was Elias Alexander, son of Arthur Alexander who was a contemporary of the signers. 

Recently, the author found a will of an Arthur Alexander that is consistent with this family tradition. Arthur 

Alexander was the brother of both Abraham and Ezra Alexander and cousin of Hezekiah Alexander. The 

will indicates that Arthur Alexander died when his children, Elias, Mary, and Ann, were young. He entrusts 

their care to his widow and two brothers. Some family trees of Alexanders omit Arthur Alexander, but that 

may be because he died young. Abraham Alexander had a son Elias who lived out his life as a farmer in 

Mecklenburg County. His birth and death years are identical with Arthurôs son Elias in our family tradition. 

It is not clear if these two Eliasôs were the same person or if dates were assigned by someone who confused 

two individuals. In July 2001, Mary Manning Boyer discovered the likely source of this tradition. The 

writing of Miss Hattie Alexander and Mr. McWhorter says Samuel and Lawson Alexander were sons of 

Elias Alexander but offers no evidence. Mary Manning Boyer is cited in (Preyer 1987, xii) and recently co-

authored a Charlotte history book (Kratt and Boyer 2000). 
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Another independent source shows Samuelôs father as James Alexander II from Spartanburg, South 

Carolina. He too was related to Mecklenburg Alexanders, but as second cousin. This information is from 

Alice Grubb who lives on the Roane County, Tennessee, farmland once owned by Samuel Alexander. 

What is known for certain is that Samuel married Elizabeth Hinton on 22 April 1808 in Logan County, 

Kentucky, and later moved to Roane County, Tennessee, where he lived near other Alexanders, including 

James Alexander II and his son Lawson Alexander. Samuelôs father might be confirmed by investigating 

Spartanburg County or Logan County records. What evidence exists makes this Alexander connecting 

more plausible than the above. It is assumed throughout the remainder of this document. However, even 

this evidence is not conclusive. It is possible that our Alexanders ancestors were not related to the colorful 

Alexanders from Mecklenburg County. 

Mary Louise McGuire in her 1979 ñTwigs of the McGuires and Plonks,ò (L. M. Plonk 1979), was careful 

not to specify Samuel Alexanderôs father. She wrote that Samuel, his wife Elizabeth, and daughter Sarah 

moved from Mecklenburg County, North Carolina, to Roane County, Tennessee, but does not mention her 

source. The author is sure her knowledge was no more precise, because during the 1950s when her DAR 

chapter restored the Hezekiah Alexander house, she took the author there and told him there was ñsome 

family connectionò with Hezekiah Alexander. 

Major General William Alexander, one of George Washington top generals, was also related to these 

Alexanders (Foote 1846, 198) (Hunter 1877, 60). This William Alexander was also known as 

Lord Sterling, a pre-Revolution title he claimed but could not establish legally. 

Note: Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence and Ten Commandments 

In 2012, a Mecklenburg citizen expressed dismay that historian Lyman Draper concluded after 

investigating that the Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence did not occur. Without taking sides, I 

attempted to explain that Draper was a professional historian who had to rely on primary sources. In 

response, the citizen asked me, ñDo you believe in the Ten Commandments?ò I said yes. ñHave you seen 

the original Ten Commandments?ò

 

Charlotte resident Captain James Jack carried the Mecklenburg Declaration and Resolves to the North 

Carolina delegates at the Continental Congress in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, for consideration by all 

13 colonies. His passage was recorded in Salisbury and Salem (Preyer 1987, 101). In Philadelphia, the 

North Carolina delegates considered the resolutions ñprematureò and thus not entered into the proceedings 

(Polk 1819 in Hoyt 1914, II:200). 

 
Spirit of Mecklenburg 

Representation of Captain James Jack 

Sculpted by Chas Fagan, 2010. 

On 7 December 1819, James Jack made an affidavit in which he indicated that he was an eyewitness to the 

proceedings and that he took only one document to Philadelphia: 
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Having seen in the newspapers some pieces respecting the Declaration of Independence 

by the people of Mecklenburg County in the State of North Carolina, in May, 1775, and 

being solicited to state what I know of that transaction, I would observe that for some 

time previous to, and at the time those resolutions were agreed upon. I resided in the town 

of Charlotte, Mecklenburg County; was privy to a number of meetings of some of the 

most influential and leading characters of that county on the subject before the final 

adoption of the resolutions and at the time they were adopted. Among those who 

appeared to take the lead may be mentioned Hezekiah Alexander, who generally acted as 

chairman, John McKnitt Alexander, as secretary, Abraham Alexander, Adam Alexander, 

Major John Davidson. Major (after General) William Davidson, Colonel Thomas Polk, 

Ezekiel Polk. Dr. Ephraim Brevard, Samuel Martin, Duncan Ochletree, William Wilson, 

Robert Irwin. 

When the resolutions were finally agreed on, they were publicly proclaimed from the 

court house door in the town of Charlotte, and received with every demonstration of joy 

by the inhabitants. 

I was then solicited to be the bearer of the proceedings to Congress. I set out the 

following month, say June, and in passing through Salisbury, the General Court was 

sitting; at the request of the Court I handed a copy of the resolutions to Colonel Kennon, 

an attorney, and they were read aloud in open court. Major William Davidson and Mr. 

Avery, an attorney, called on me at my lodgings the evening after, and observed they had 

heard of but one person, a Mr. Beard, but approved of them. I then proceeded on to 

Philadelphia, and delivered the Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence of May, 1775, 

to Richard Caswell and William Hooper, the delegates to Congress from the State of 

North Carolina. 

I am now in the 88th year of my age. residing in the county of Elbert in the State of 

Georgia. I was in the Revolutionary War from the commencement to the close. (Jack 

1819 in Ashe 1905, IV:223) 

Soon after 23 June publication of the Mecklenburg Resolves in the Cape Fear Mercury, Richard Cogdell, 

chairman of the New Bern Committee of Safety, sent a copy of the newspaper to Richard Caswell, a 

delegate at the Continental Congress in Philadelphia, adding: 

You will observe the Mecklenburg Resolves exceed all other committees or the congress 

itself. (Cogdell 1775 in Ashe 1908, 1:459) 

In April 1775, colonial Governor Josiah Martin escaped New Bern and resided at Fort Johnston in present-

day Southport, North Carolina. There on 25 June in a Governorôs Council Meeting, Martin referred to the 

31 May 1775 Mecklenburg Resolves: 

the late most treasonable publication of a Committee in the County of Mecklenburg, 

explicitly renouncing obedience to His Majesty's Government and all lawfull authority 

whatsoever are such audacious and dangerous proceedings, and so directly tending to the 

dissolution of the Constitution of this Province, That I have thought it indispensably my 

Duty to advise with you on the measures proper to be taken for the maintenance of His 

Majesty's Government, and the Constitution of this Country, thus flagrantly insulted and 

violated. (Martin 1775 in NCCR 1886, X:38ï39) 

A few days later on 30 June, Martin explicitly referenced the published Mecklenburg Resolves to William 

Legge, Earl of Dartmouth: 

The Resolves of the Committee of Mecklenburgh, which your Lordship will find in the 

enclosed Newspaper, surpass all the horrid and treasonable publications that the 

inflammatory spirits of this Continent have yet produced, and your Lordship may depend 

its Authors and Abettors will not escape my due notice, whenever my hands are 
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sufficiently strengthened to attempt the recovery of the lost authority of Government. A 

copy of these Resolves I am informed were sent off by express to the Congress at 

Philadelphia as soon as they were passed in the Committee. (Martin 1775 in NCCR 1886, 

X:48) 

Martin mentioned the Mecklenburg Resolves in two other known correspondences. In this context, why did 

he not mention the much stronger Declaration of Independence? If it existed, was it publicly declared? 

On 18 July, because of the growing rebellion, Martin moved offshore onto British warship Cruizer 

anchored in the Cape Fear River. In this action, he followed the example of the Virginia colonial governor 

John Murray, Earl of Dunmore, who on 8 June, found protection on the warship Fowey off Yorktown. 

Rebels burned Fort Johnston to prevent its reuse. The Assembly declared the Governor abdicated and 

established, in his place, an emergency executive branch of government named Provincial Council. It was a 

committee. It oversaw and directed all county committees of safety. That included power to activate the 

militia and commission officers. On 15 August, Martin issued a proclamation denouncing the new 

government. Among his assertions was: 

And whereas I have also seen a most infamous publication in the Cape Fear Mercury 

importing to be resolves of a set of people stiling themselves a Committee for the County 

of Mecklenburg most traiterously declaring the entire dissolution of the Laws 

Government and Constitution of this country and setting up a system of rule and 

regulation repugnant to the Laws and subversive of His Majesty's Government. (Martin 

1775 in NCCR 1886, X:144) (Preyer 1987, 101ï102) 

Notably, each contemporaneous quote above explicitly mentioned the Mecklenburg Resolves. None 

mentioned the Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence. 

During 20 Augustï10 September 1775, Thomas Polk was a delegate to the North Carolina Provincial 

Congress (NCCR 1886, X:165). On 9 September 1775, he was promoted to colonel and commander of the 

Mecklenburg County Militia. 

Similarly, on 14 June 1775, South Carolina First Provincial Congress created a Council of Safety. It also 

directed William Henry Dayton, Richard Richardson, Joseph Kershaw, William Tennent, and Oliver Hart 

to tour the backcountry to persuade key leaders to support the rebel government. 

Also in 1775, Reverent Alexander MacWhorter and Elihu Spencer toured North Carolina loyalist 

settlements attempting to gain their support for the American cause (Dussek 2011ï2014). 

1775, Tryon County Resolves  
On 26 July 1775, Whigs in Tryon County, North Carolina, established a Committee of Public Safety. It met 

Christian Mauneyôs [pronounced Moon-ney] house on 14 August to write an Association Oath, sometimes 

called Tryon County Resolves. Like the Mecklenburg County Resolves, enacted 31 May 1775, it 

empowered an independent local militia. It was a test oath that all Tryon County inhabitants were to sign, 

in effect endorsing the legitimacy of the Committee of Public Safety. 

Resolved, That this Association be signed by the inhabitants of Tryon County, viz: 

An Association 

The unprecedented, barbarous and bloody actions committed by the British troops on our 

American brethren near Boston, on the 19th of April and 20th of May, last, together with 

the hostile operations and traitorous designs now carrying on by the tools of ministerial 

vengeance and despotism for the subjugating of all British America, suggest to us the 

painful necessity of having recourse to arms for the preservation of those rights and 

liberties which the principles of our constitution and the Laws of God, Nature and 

Nations have made it our duty to defend. 
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We therefore, the subscribers, freeholders and inhabitants of Tryon County, do hereby 

faithfully unite ourselves under the most sacred ties of religion, honor and love to our 

country, firmly to resist force by force in defense of our natural freedom and 

constitutional rights against all invasions; and at the same time do solemnly engage to 

take up arms and risk our lives, and fortunes, in maintaining the freedom of our country 

whenever the wisdom and counsel of the Continental Congress or our Provincial 

Convention shall declare it necessary; and this engagement we will continue in and hold 

sacred till a reconciliation shall take place between Great Britain and America on 

Constitutional principles which we most ardently desire. And we do firmly agree to hold 

all such persons inimical to the liberties of America who shall refuse to subscribe to this 

association. 

[Signed] John Walker, Charles McLean, Andrew Neel, Thomas Beatty, James Coburn, 

Frederick Hambright, Andrew Hampton, Benjamin Hardin, George Paris, William 

Graham, Robert Alexander, David Jenkins, Thomas Espey, Perrygreen Mackness 

(Magness), James McAfee, William Thompson, Jacob Forney, Davis Whitesides, John 

Beeman, John Morris, Joseph Hardin, John Robison, James McIntyre, Valentine Mauney, 

George Black, Jas. Logan, Jas. Baird, Christian Carpenter, Abel Beatty, Joab Turner, 

Jonathan Price, James Miller, John Dellinger, Peter Sides, William Whiteside, George 

Dellinger, Samuel Carpenter, Jacob Mooney, Jr., John Wells, Jacob Costner, Robert 

Hulclip, James Buchanan, Moses Moore, Joseph Kuykendall, Adam Simms, Richard 

Waffer, Samuel Smith, Joseph Neel, Samuel Loftin. (NCCR 1886, X:162ï163) (Griffin 

1937, 17) 

It was not a declaration of independence. Instead, it was conditional: 

Resolved nem. con. That we will Continue to profess all Loyalty and attachment to our 

Sovereign Lord King George the Third, His Crown & Dignity, so long as he secures to us 

those Rights and Liberties which the principles of Our Constitution require. (NCCR 

1886, X:163) 

In 1919, a monument commemorating the Tryon County Resolves was erected at the site of the original 

Tryon County Courthouse. That location is on highway NC274 about 4 miles south of Cherryville, North 

Carolina. Before 1779, Tryon County included present-day Lincoln, Gaston, Cleveland and Rutherford 

Counties. 
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Tryon County Resolves Historical Marker 

Thomas Espey was a Tryon County justice of the peace during 1772ï1775. He was a member of the Tryon 

County Committee of Public Safety that decreed the Association Oath. Reference (Griffin 1937, 21) 

indicates he was brother of Captain Samuel Espey who participated in Kings Mountain battle. But that 

Thomas Espey Junior was at most 19 years old in 1775. His 46-year-old father Thomas Espey Senior was 

the more likely justice of the peace and signer. He was a Plonk-related 5th great-grandfather. 

Jacob Forney I, George Shuford Ramseur Sr.ôs 3rd great-grandfather, was a member of the Tryon County 

Committee of Public Safety that decreed the Association Oath. 

1775, Committees of Safety members  
The following table lists family relations who were members on a Committee of Public Safety during 

1774ï1776. 

Committee of Public Safety Participants 

Name Relation County 

Abraham Alexander 2nd Cousin 

7x removed 

Mecklenburg, NC 

Hezekiah Alexander 2nd Cousin 

7x removed 

Mecklenburg, NC 

Ephraim Brevard 5th Cousin 

4x removed 

Mecklenburg, NC 

William Lee Davidson Husband of 

5th Cousin 

4x removed 

Rowan, NC 

Thomas Espey 5GGFather Tryon, NC 

 

1775, Boston, George Washington 
On 14 June 1775, the Continental Congress established the Continental Army. On 17 June, George 

Washington was appointed General and Commander in Chief. Outside Boston, on 2 July, Washington took 


